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LOCATIONS

Topeka | 785-235-1341

Lawrence | 785-749-9000

Home Office
700 5 Kansas Avenue, Topeka, KS 66603

1201 S Topeka Blvd

2100 SW Fairlawn Rd

2865 SW Wanamaker Rd

2901 S Kansas Ave

3540 NW 46th 5t

12th S5t & Wanamaker, ATM only
29th & California, ATM only
l3310 SE 29th St

Greater Kansas City | 913-381-5400
5251 Johnson Dr

9000 W 87th St

10101 College Blvd

“1408°E Santa Fe ~

9500 Nall Ave

13500 Metcalf

5700 Nieman Rd

1900 W 75th 5t

15525 W 87th Pkwy

2100 E 1515t 5t

22400 Midland Dr

12200 Blue Valley Pkwy, SuperTarget
15700-Shawnee-Mission Pkwy, SuperTarget
7734 State Ave, Price Chopper

15345 W 119th St, SuperTarget

11700 W 135th St, Price Chopper

4050 W 83rd St, Hen House

75th & Quivira, ATM only

13351 Mission Rd, Price Chopper

Santa Fe & Hwy 7, ATM only

1223 NE Rice Rd, Loan Production Office

8560 N Green Hills Road, Loan Praduction Office
Walgreen’s - 38 ATM locations in Greater Kansas City

1046 Vermont 5t

1025 lowa 5t

3201 S lowa, SuperTarget

4701 W 6th St, Dillon's

1026 Westdale Rd, Loan Production office
1321 Oread, KU Student Union, ATM only
1740 Massachusetts, Dillon’s Plaza, ATM only
Walgreen's - 2 ATM locations in Lawrence

Wichita | 316-689-0200

4000 E Harry

4020 W Maple

10404 W Central

4616 E 13th

8040 E Douglas

8301 E 21st St North

1636 North Rock Road, Suite 900 Derby

Emporia | 620-342-0125

602 Commercial

Manhattan | 785-537-4226

1401 Poyniz

705A Commons Place
K-State Student Union, ATM only

Salina | 785-825-7121

25505 9th 5t




FINANICIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Borrowmgs 3,502,777 3,479,875 3,322,172 2,785,707 3,160,710

Eqwty 832,414 865,063 863,219 867,631 871,216 ‘

Net Income {Loss) (106,275 65,059 48,117 32,296 50,954 ‘
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Excluding the prepayment penaltty related e refinancing the Federal Home Loan Bank Advances during fiscal year 2004, net income
would have beer 540,290, the basic earnings per share would have been $0.56 and the efficiency ratio would have been 52.35%.

The public share count is the number of shares that would recaive regalar quarterly dividends as of Seplember 30 of each year presented,
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4% LETTER TO OUR STOCKHOLDERS

We are very proud to repeat our statement from last year that we have not participated in subprime
lending. Unfortunately, fiscal year 2008 began with an increased emphasis on subprime lending and
the |mpact subpnme loans were having on other financial institutions and broader markets.

By avoiding the pressures to make subprime loans, Capitol Federal has positioned itself to continue
to serve existing and new customers because of our strong capital position and access to fiquidity. '
These could have been impaired had Capitol Federal chosen to make subprime loans.

Capitol Federal Savings Bank's core capital stands at 10.0% and risk-based capital at 23.1%.

Both ratios exceed regulatory standards to be considered well-capitalized. Maintaining a high

capital level, especially in these times, provides both stockholders and customers assurance that
their investment is protected first and foremost by Capitol Federal itself.

Capitol Federal continues its commitment to sound underwriting. Requiring full documentation on the
loans we make is a sound business decision for Capitol Federal, and benefits each of our mortgage
customers. Our customers have benefited from this kind of complete underwriting as evidenced by
our low non-performing loan ratios. | is just as important for Capitol Federal to be repaid as it is fori :
our loan customers to be able to fulfill their obligation and remain in their homes, Loan customers j
who fulfill their obligations maintain their credit score, develop good credit history, and have the proven

ability to manage their finances.

Capitol Federal continues its commitment to high levels of customer service in the deposit products
and services we provide. Capitol Federal is also expanding its footprint by adding locations to service
more customers. These new locations will allow us to provide our full range of products and service$
more conveniently and competitively to existing and new customers. :

Capitol Federal continues to manage its'two primary risks that are associated with financial
institutions; interest rate risk and credit risk. Time has proven that interest rate risk can cause us,
as well as other financial institutions, to have difficulty maintaining high earnings levels for the
period of time that interest rates are unfavorable. Our active management of Capitol Federal's
interest rate risk profile allows us to maximize earnings during those unfavorable times.
__Credit risk, however, can put a financial institution out of business very quickly by decreasing its cash
flow as'loans do not repay, reducing earnings throughlost revenue and write-downs of bad loans, -
impairing its capital and reducing its access to liquidity. Management and the board work constantly
to minimize credit risk and manage interest rate risk within well established limits.




Capitol Federal continues its commitment to maintaining a high priority on creating and maintaining
stockholder value. We accomplish this through sound operations, solid loan underwriting and
providing access to a broad range of products and services for our customers. These translate into
of $100 million to serve as our reserve to, in large part, insure the continuance of the dividend
policy of the board. This year, even with all the financial markets have been through, we are

of $0.50 per share.

. The Capitol Federal Foundation continues its record of generous giving in 2008 by distributing over
. $3,500,000 to numerous nonprofit and charitable organizations within our marketplace during fiscal
' year 2008. We will continue to support our communities in 2009, through the contributions of the
Foundation and the countless volunteer hours of our employees.

that provide safety in deposits, solid loan underwriting and sound operations. We aren’t swayed by

and trust.

John C. Dicus
Chairman

John B. Dicus
President & CEO

. —positive.earnings year after year._Capitol. Federal's.goal has been.fo.build.up,.and.maintain, in.excess.

proud to have paid a special dividend of $0.11 per share, in addition to our regular quarterly dividend|

|
I
Like the mighty oak, Capitol Federal stands strong in our deep roots - roots of dependability and trust

!

the broad financial products; our institution is proud of a strategy proven to have weathered the storms
of the past 115 years. Our commitment to character and integrity has built value for our stockholders!
making us strong for generations past and generations to come. Thank you for your continued onaltgf




Directors

B. B. Andersen Real Estate Developer

John B. Dicus President and CEO of Capitol Federal Financial and Capitol
Federal Savings Bank

John C. Dicus ____ Chairman of the Board of Capitol Federal Financial and Capitol__.

Federal Savings Bank

|Jeffrey M. Johnson President of Flint Hills National Golf Club

Michael T. McCoy, M.D.  Orthopedic surgeon in private practice, Chief of Orthopedic
! Surgery at Stormont-Vail Regional Medical Center '

Jeffrey R. Thompson Chief Executive Officer of Salina Vortex Corporation |

f Marilyn S. Ward Retired Executive Director of ERC/Resource & Referral \

Management

John C. Dicus Chairman of the Board |
E ‘John B. Dicus President and CEO ' i |
R. Joe Aleshire Executive Vice President of Retail Operations for

Capitol Federal Savings Bank

Larry K. Brubaker Executive Vice President of Corporate Services for
T Bl Capitol Federal Savings Bank %

Morris J. Huey, Il Executive Vice President and Chief Lending Officer for
Capitol Federal Savings Bank

‘Kent G. Townsend Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

[ — - . R —— —

Tara D.Van Houweling First Vice President and Reporting Director

Mary R. Culver Corporate Secretary

Special Counsel Silver, Freedman & Taff, LLP, 3299 K Street, NW., Suite 100, Washington, DC 20007
Independent Auditors  Deloitte & Touche LLP. | 103 Walnut, Suite 3300, Kansas City, MO 64106
Corporate Counsel Shaw, Hergenreter, & Quarnstrom, 700 5. Kansas Avenue, Suite 504, Topeka, KS 66603
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The summary information presented below under "Selected Balance Sheet Data™ and "Selected Operations Data" for,
and as of the end of, each of the years ended September 30 is derived from our audited consolidated financial
statements. The following information is only a summary and you should read it in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and notes beginning on page 38.

September 30,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
o ’ {Dollars in thousands}  ~ S

Selected Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets $8,055,249 §$7,675886  $8,199,073 $8,409687 $8,541,124
Loans receivable, net 5,320,780 5,290,071 5,221,117 5,464,130 4,747,530
Investment securities: |

Available-for-sale (“AFS"), at market value 49,586 102,424 189,480 : - T

Held-to~matur|ty {"HTM"), at cost ' 92,773 421,744 - 240,000 430,499 638,079
Mortgage-related securities ("MBS"): S : '

Trading, at market value - - 396,904 v -- -

AFS, at market value 1,484,055 402,686 556,248 737,638 1,201,800

HTM, at cost _ 750,284 1,011,585 1,131,634 1,407,616 1,446,908
Capital stock of Federal Home Loan Bank (“FHLB") 124,406 139,661 165,130 182,259 174,126
Deposits : 3,923,883 3,922,782 3,900,431 3,960,297 4,127,774 .
Advances from FHLB . 2,447 129 2,732,183 3,268,705 3,426,465 3,449,429
Other borrowings 713,581 53,524 53,467 53,410 53,348

Stockholders’ equity . 871,216 867,631 863,219 865,063 832,414

Year Ended September 30,
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004"
: ) {Dollars and counts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Selected Operations Data:

Total interest and dividend income $ 410806 $ 411550 $ 410,928 $ 400,107 § 384,833
Total interest expense . 276,638 305,110 283,905 244,201 268,642
Net interest and dividend income 134,168 106,440 127,023 155,906 116,191
Provision (recovery) for loan losses 2,051 (225) 247 215 64
Net interest and dividend income after provision . -
(recovery) for loan losses 132,117 106,665 126,776 155,691 116,127
Retail fees and charges ! 17,805 16,120 17,007 16,029 15,119
Other income 12,222 7,846 7,788 7,286 8,428
Total other income : 30,027 23,966 24,795 23,315 23,547
Prepayment penalty on FHLB advances . - -- - -- 236,109
Total other expenses 81,989 77,725 72,868 73,631 309,000
Income {loss) before income tax expense {benefit) 80,155 52,906 78,703 105,375 {169,326)
Income tax expense (berefit) 29,201 20,610 - 30,586 40,316 (63,051)
Net income (loss) - - - .. ... --..50,954 . .. 32,296 48,117 65,059 {108,275)
Basic earnings (loss) per.share 3 0.70 $ 044 $ 066 $ 090 $ (1.48)
Average shares outstanding ' 72,939 t72,849 72,585 72,506 71,599
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.70 $ 044 $ 066 $ o0.89 $ (1.48)

Average diluted shares outstanding . 73,013 172,970 72,854 73,082 71,599




Selected Performance and Financial Ratios
and Other Data:
Performance Ratios:
Return on average assets
Return on average equity
Dividends paid per public share'?
Dividend payout ratio
Ratio of operating expense to
avera'ge total assets
Efficiency ratio ’
Ratio of average interest-earning assets
to average interest-bearing liabilities
Interest rate spread information:
Average during period
End of period
Net interest margin
Asset Quality Ratios:
Non-performing assets to total assets
Non-performing loans to total loans
Allowance for loan losses to
non-accruing loans
Allowance for loan losses to
loans receivable, net
Capital Ratios:
Equity to lotal assets al.end of period
Average equity to average assets

Regulatory Capita! of Bank:
Core capital

Tier | risk-based capital
Total risk-based capital

Other Data:
Number of traditional offices
Number of in-store offices

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
0.65% 0.41% 0.58% 0.77% °  (1.25)%
5.86 3.72 5.58 7.62 (11.36)

$ 2.00 $ 2.09 $ 230 $200 $ 281
81.30% 133.14% 97.41% 62.59% n/a
1.04 0.98 0.88 0.87 3.64%
49.93 59.60 48.03 4119 - 221.83
1.12 1.12 1.11 110 112

i .

1.35 0.93 1.19 159 , 1.05
1.70 0.89 1.07 146 , 177
1,75 1.36 1.57 187 °  1.39
0.23 0.12 0.10 0.08 0.12
0.26 0.14 0.11 0.09 0.13
4237 56.87 79.03 89.14 74.04
0.11 0.08 0.08 0.08 0.09
10.82 11.30 10.53 1029 * 975
11.05 10.91 10.47 1005 ' 11.03

. !

10.0 10.3 9.5 9.1 8.8
23.1 229 226 213 21.6
23.0 22.8 22.5 213 . 218
30 29 29 29 28
9 9 9 8 8

4] During 2004, Capitol Federal Savings Bank refinanced $2:4O biltion of its FHLB advances that were not hedged by interest
rate swaps. In doing s0, Capitol Federal Savings Bank incurred a $236.1 million prepayment penalty.

{2)  For all years shown, Capitol Federal Savings Bank MHC, which owns a majority of the outstanding shares of Capitol Federal
Financial common stock, waived its right to receive dividends paid on the common stock with the exception of the $0.50 per share
dividend-paid on 500,000 shares in-February 2005. Public shares exclude shares held by Capitol Federal Savings Bank MHC, as
well as unallocated shares held in'the Capitol Federal Financial Employee Stock Ownership'Plan ("ESOP")" See page 23 for ~

additional information.




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

- - - - - - e . - - 3 - - e e s - e o - - .. sk a oa = oo

General Overview

Capitol Federa! Financial (the "Company™) is the mid-tier holding company and the sole shareholder of Capitol
Federal Savings Bank (the "Bank”). Capitol Federal Savings Bank MHC ("MHC"), a federally chartered mutual
holding company, is the majority owner of the Company. MHC owns 52,192,817 shares of the 74,079,868 voting
shares outstanding on September 30, 2008. The Company's common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Stock Market
LLC 'under the symbo! “CFFN.” The Bank comprises almost al! of the consolidated assets and liabilities of the
Company and the Company is dependent pnmanly upon the performance of the Bank for the results of its operations.
Because of this relationship, references to management actions, strategies and results of actions apply to both the
Bank and the Company.

PrIvate Securities Litigation Reform Act—Safe Harbor Statement

We may from time to time make written or oral "forward-looking statements”, including statements contained in
our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). These forward-looking statements may be
included in this annual report to stockholders and in other communications by the Company, which are made in good
faith by us pursuant to the "safe Karbor” provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

, These forward-locking statements include statements about our beliefs, plans, objectives, goals, expectations,
anticipations, estimates and intentions that are subject to significant risks and uncertainties, and are subject to
change based on various factors, some of which are beyond our control. The words "may”, "could”, "should",

"would", "believe", "anticipate”, "estimate”, "expect”, "intend", "plan” and similar expressions are intended o identify
forward-looking statements The following factors, among others, could cause our future results to differ materially
from the plans, objectives, goals, expectations, anticipations, estimates and mtentlons expressed in the forward-
Iookmg statements .

our ablhty to continue to maintain overhead costs at reasonable levels;
our ability to continue to originate a significant volume of one- to four-family mortgage loans in our market area;
our ability to acquire funds from or invest funds in wholesale or secondary markets; " -
the fulure earnings and capital levels of the Bank, which could affect the ability of the Company to pay letdends
in accordance with its dividend poficies;
fluctuations in deposit flows, loan demand, and/or real estate values, which may adversely affect our business;
. the credit risks of lending and investing activities, including changes in the level and direction of loan
delinquencies and write-offs and changes in estimates of the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses;
e , the strength of the U.S. economy in general and the strength of the local economies in which we corduct
operations;
é . the effects of, and changes in, trade, monetary and fiscal policies and laws |ncrud|ng interest rate policies of the
"+ " Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System; ™
the effects of, and changes in, foreign and military policies of the United States Government;
« inflation, interest rates, market and monetary fluctuations; .
our ability to access cost-effective funding;
the timely development and acceptance of our new products and services and the perceived overall value of
' these products and services by users, including the fealures, pricing and quality compared to competitors'
products and services,
« i the willingness of users to substitute competitors! products and services for our products and services;
» ' oursuccess in gaining regulatory approval of aur products, services and branching locations, when required;
» ! the impact of changes in financial-services laws-and regulatlons including-laws-concerning taxes;, bclnkmg, -
seclrities and'insurance and ‘the impact of other goverriméntal m:tlatwes § affécting the financial servizés.
industry;
implementing business initiatives may be more diffi cull or expensive than ant1c1pated
technological changes;
acquisitions and dispositions;
changes in consumer spending and saving habits; and
our success at managing the risks involved in our business,

This list of important factors is not exclusive. We do not undertake to update any forward-looking statement,
whether written or oral, that may be made from time to time by or on behalf of the Company or the Bank.
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The following discussion is intended to assist iﬁ understanding the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company. The discussion includes comments relating to the Bank, since the Bank is wholly owned by the
Company and comprises the majority of assets and is the principal source of income for the Company.

Executive Summary .
" The following summary should be_read in conjunction with our Management's Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations in its entirety.

L} 1

Our principal business consists of attracting deposits from the general public and investing those funds primarily
in permanent loans secured by first mortgages on owner-occupied, one- to four-family residences. We also originate
consumer loans, loans secured by first mortgages on non-owner-occupied one- to four-family residences, permanent
and construction loans secured by one- to four-family residences, commercial real estate loans, and multi-family real
estate loans. While our primary business is the origination of one- to four-family morigage loans funded through retail
deposits, we also purchase whole loans and invest in certain investment securities and MBS, and use FHLB
advances and repurchase agreements as additional funding sources. ‘ ‘ i

The Company is significantly affected by prevailing economic conditions including federal monetary and fiscal
policies and federal regulation of financial institutions. Deposit balances are influenced by a number of factors
including interest rates paid on competing personal investment products, the level of personal income, and the
personal rate of savings within our market areas. Lending activilies are influenced by the demand for housing and
other loans, changing loan underwriting guidelines, as well as interest rate pricing competition from other lending |
institutions. The primary sources of funds for lending activities include deposits, loan repayments investment

income, borrowings, and funds provided from operations. ,

The Company's results of operations are primarily dependent on net interest income, which is the difference |
between the interest earned on loans, MBS, investment securities and cash, and the interest paid on deposits and
borrowings. On a weekly basis, management reviews deposit flows, loan demand, cash levels, and changes in
several market rates to assess all pricing strategies. We generally price our loan and deposit products based upon,
an analysis of our competition and changes in market rates. The Bank generally prices its first mortgage loan
products based upon prices available in the secondary market if it were to sell them at prices near par. Generally, '
deposit pricing is based upon a survey of peers in the Bank's market areas, and the néed to attract funding and retain -
maturing deposits. The majority of our loans are fixed-rate products with maturities up to 30 years, while the majority
of our deposits have maturity or reprice dates of less than two years.

" In figcat year 2008, the consequences of steep declines in credit quality and asset quality due largely %0
subprime lending and real estate devaluations were felt economy-wide, but predominantly in the financial services .
sector. Record levels of asset write-downs and credit losses were experienced by companies across the United
States, leaving some companies in the financial services sector critically undercapitalized and without liguidity. The
severity of these conditions is illustrated by the placement of the Federal National Mortgage Association (“FNMA"}
and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation {“FHLMC") into government conservatorships, the collapse of
several large Wall Street firms, and the closing of a number of banks during the year by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation ("FBIC”). The Federal Open Market Committee of the Federal Reserve ("FOMC") lowered the
overnight lending rate 275 basis points during fiscal year 2008, from 4.75% to 2.00%. The Federal Reserve also
provided emergency funding to struggting firms through a number of new term-lending programs that accepted higher
risk assets as collateral, in an effort to keep capital markets functioning. On October 3, 2008, the Emergency
Economic Stabilization Act of 2008 (the “EESA") was signed into law. The EESA is not expected to have a matenal :
impact on the Company's fulure financial position, results,of operations, cash flows, or liquidity.

The Bank continues to maintain access to liquidity in excess of forecasted needs by diversifying its funding
sources and maintaining a strong retail oriented deposit portfol:o In addition, the investments of the Bank are
government-agency backed securities which are highly liquid, which have not been credit impaired, comparedto i
other classes of investments in recent months, and are available as collateral for additional borrowings or fér sale if
the need or unforeseen conditions warrant. See additional dlscussmn regarding Iqu|d=ty in the section entitled
“Liguidity and Capital Resoiirces.”

- "Subprime mortgage Iendlng is not a market in WhICh we participate. The loans we originate and purchase are !
fully documented and adhere to underwriting guidelines generally more restrictive than used by other lenders. See
additional discussion of asset quality in Part |, ltem 1 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K. While the subprime lending
market essentially does not exist today, past practices have caused considerable strain in the credit markets from
rising delinquencies, lower real estate valuations and I[qu|d|ty pressures. This strain has resulted in tightened lending
practices and negative impacts on many real estate markets, as well as negative perceptions of our business and
industry. The continued decline in the real estate markets, as well as the overall economic environment, contributed ,
to an increase in our non-performing loans during the year. Due to our level of geographlc diversification, we are
sheltered but not immune to negative consequences arlsmg from overall econornic weakness and, in particular, a
sharp downturn in the housing industry nationally. Despite the increase in non-performing loans at September 30,

2008, our non-performing foans continue to remain at low levels relative to the size of our loan portfolio. We continue
to closely monitor the local and natiorial real estate markets and other factors related to risks inherent in our loan
portfolio. Based on our evaluation of the quality of the loqhs in our residential loan portfolio, real estate markets, the
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overall economic environment, and the increase in and compasition of our delinquencies and non-performing loans,
management determined a $2.1 mlII|on provision for loan losses was prudent and warranted for the year ended
September 30, 2008. . ‘ ;

Net income for the year ended September 30, 2008 was $51.0 million compared to $32.3 million for the vear
ended September 30, 2007. The $18.7 million increase in net income was primarily a result of a decrease in interest
expense on FHLB advances and deposits. The decrease in interest expense on FHLB advances was a result of a
decrease in the balance as maturing advances were not renewed in their entirety and a decrease in the weighted-
average rate due tothe termination of $575.0'million-of interest rate swap agreements during the first quarter, The
decrease in interest expense on deposits was due to a decrease in the rate on the money market, certlf cate and
savings portfolios due to the portfolios repricing to lower market rates. '

During fiscal year 2008, we entered into $660.0 million of repurchase agreements as a means of expanding
our funding sources and borrowed $825.0 million of FHLB advances, while $1.13 billion of FHLB advances matured.
The amount of total borrowings is a function of balancing investment opportunities, liquidity requirements, and
managing the interest rate’ sensitivity of the Bank. Management monitors the Bank's investment opportunities and
balances those opportunities with.the cost of FHLB advances or other funding sources for various terms to maturity.
During the year, management utilized some of the borrowings and cash flows from the investment securities portfolio
to purchase MBS as the interest rate spreads were at attractive levels at certain points during the year when
considering the refated interest rate and credit risk exposure. Management intends to continue such transactions for
the foreseeable future as long as interest rate spreads and the related interest rate and credit risk exposure are at
acceptable levels. See additional discussion of interest rate risk in "Quantltalwe and Qualitative Disclosure About
Market Risk.} , :

The Bank opened one new branch in our Wichita market area in October 2008. The Bank has plans to open
two additional branches in fiscal year 2009, located in our market area in south Johnson County, Kansas. The Bank
has prel:mlnary plans to open three additional branches in our market areas in Kansas City and Wichita by
September 30 2010.

Critical Accountmg Policies

‘Our most critical accounting policies are the methodologies used to determine the allowance for loan {osses and
the other than temporary declines in the value of securities. These policies are important to the presentation of our
financial condition and results of operations, involve a high degree of complexity, and require management to make
difficult and subjective judgments that may require assumptions or estimates about highly uncertain matters. The use
of different judgments, assumptions, and estimates could cause reported results to differ materially. These critical
accounting policies and their application are reviewed at least annually by our audit committee and board- of directors.
The following is a description of our critical accounting policies and an explanation of the methods and assumptions
underlying their application.

L)

‘Allowance for Loan Losses. Management maintains an allowance for loan losses to absorb losses known
and inherent'in the loan portfolio based upon ongoing quarterly assessments of the loan portfolio. Our methodology
for assessing the appropriateness of the allowance consists of several key elements, which includes a formula
analysis for general valuation allowances, specific valuation allowances for identified problem loans and porifolic
segments, and knowledge of economic conditions which may lead to credit rlsk concerns about the loan portfolic or

_segments of the loan portfolio.

All toans that are not |mpa|red as deﬂned in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 114,
“Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, an Amendment of Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB") Statements No. 5 and 15" and No. 118 “Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan - Income
Recognition and Disclosures, an Amendment of FASB Statemeént No. 114", are included in a formula analysis, as
permitted by SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies”. Management uses the formula analysis to evaluate the
adequacy of the general valuation allowance. Each quarter, the loan portfolio is segregated into categories in the
formula analysis based upon certain risk characteristics such as loan type (one- to four-family, multi-family, etc.),
interést payments (fixed-rate, adjustable-rate), loan source (originated or purchased), and payment status (i.e. current

or number of days delinguent). Impaired loans and loans with known potential losses are excluded from the analysis

and évaluated for specific valuation allowances. Potential loss factors are assigned to each category in‘the analysis
based on management’s assessment of the potential risk inherent in each categery. The greater the risks associated
with a particular category, the higher the loss factor. Loss factors increase as individual loans become classified,
delinquent, the foreclosure process begins or as economic conditions warrant. The loss factors are periodically
reviewed by management for appropriateness giving consideration to historical loss experience, delinquency and
non-performing loan trends, the results of foreclosed property transactions and the status of the loca!l and national
economies and housing markets, in order to ascertain that the loss factors cover probable and estimable losses
inherent in the loan portfolio. Management's evaluation of the inherent loss with respect to these conditions is subject
to a higher degree of uncertainty because they are not identified with a specific problem loan or portfolio segments.

The amounts actually observed with respect to these losses can vary significantly from the estimated amounts.
« Our methodology permits adjustments to any loss factor used in the computation of the formula analysis in the event
that, in management’s judgment, significant factors which affecit the collectibility of the portfolio or any category of the




loan portfolio, as of the evaluation date, are not reflected in the current loss factors. By assessing the estimated
losses inherent in our loan portfolio on a quarterly basis, we can adjust specific and mherent loss estimates based
upon more current information.

During fiscal year 2008, the loss factors in our formula analysis were increased on certain purchased loans in
our portfolio as a result-of changes in the-real estate markets, borrower credit attributes, economic environment,-and
composition of our delinguencies and non-performing-loans. The increase in the loss factors was based on when the
loan was originated, the lender from whom the loan was purchased, and changes in credit scores and loan-to-value
("LTV") ratios since the time of origination. Since we rely primarily on the collateral securing a one-to four-family
mortgage loan if the loan were to enter foreclosure, management believes the increase in the loss factor on these
loans was necessary. The majority of our non-performing purchased loans were purchased from one nationwide
lender. The Bank has discontinued purchasing loans from this nationwide lender. Management reviewed the pool of
loans purchased from this nationwide lender and increased the loss factors on loans that met certain LTV and credit
" score criteria. Management also reviewed the pool of purchased loans from all other nationwide lenders and
increased the loss factors, but to a lesser extent, on loans that met certain LTV and credit score criteria. | ;

Specific valuation allowances are established in connection wrth individual loan reviews of specifi ca!ly identified
problem loans and the asset classification process, including the procedures for impairment recognition under SFAS
No. 114 and SFAS No. 118. Such evaluations include a review of loans on which full collectibility is not reasonably
assured, evaluation of the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral, and other factors that determine risk
exposure to arrive at an adequate specific valuation allowance amount. Loans with an outstanding balance of $1.5
million or more are reviewed annually if secured by property in one of the following categories: multi-family (five or
maore units) property, unimproved land, other improved commercial property, acquisition and development of land
projects, developed building lots, office building, single-use building, or retail building. Specific valuation allowances
are established if the review determines a quanllf iable impairment. If a loan is not impaired, it is included in the
formula analysis.

Management reviews the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses based upon its evaluation of then-
existing economic and business conditions affecting our key lending areas. Other conditions management considers
in determining the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses include, but are not limited to, changes in our
underwriting standards, credit quality trends {(including changes in the balance and characteristics of non-performing
loans expected to result from existing economic conditions), trends in collateral values, loan volumes and :
concentrations, and recent loss experience in particular segments of the portfolic as of the balance sheet date.
Management also measures the impact these conditions were believed to have had on the collectibility of |mpa|red
loans.

Assessing the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses is inherently subjective. Actual results could differ
from our estimates as a result of changes in economic or market conditions. Changes in estimates could result in a
material change in the allowance for loan losses. In the opinion of management, the allowance for loan losses, when
taken as a whole, is adequate to absorb reasonable estimated losses inherent in our loan portfolio. However, future
adjustments may be necessary if portfolic performance or economic or market conditions differ substantially from the
conditions that existed at the time of the initial determinations.

Securities Impairment. Management contlnually monitors the investment and mortgage-related- secunty
portfolios for impairment on a security by securily basis. Many factors are considered in determining whether the
impairment is deemed to be other-than-temporary, including, but not limited to, the nature of the investment, the
length of time the security has had a market value less than the cost basis, the cause(s), severity of the loss, the
intent and ability of the Bank to hold the security for a period of time sufficient for a substantial recovery of its ,
investment, expectation of an anticipated recovery period, recent events specific to the issuer or industry including
the issuer's financial condition and current ability to make future payments in a timely manner, external credit ratings
and recent downgrades in such ratings. If management deems the decline to be other-than-temporary, the carrymg
value of the security is adjusted and an impairment amount is recorded in the consolidated statements of income. ,
Currently, all securities are rated investment grade, and there is a market for the securities. At September 30 2008 ‘
“no securities had been identified as other-than-temporarily impaired.

Recent Accountlng Pronouncements. In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157 “Fair Value
Measurements.” SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands
disclosures regarding fair value measurements. The statement applies whenever other standards require or permit
that assets or liabilities be measured at fair value. The statement does not require new fair value measurements, but
rather provides a definition and framework for measuring fair value which will result in greater consistency and
comparability among financial statements prepared under generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America ("GAAP"). The statement is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after .
November 15, 2007, which for the Company is October 1, 2008. The provisions are to be applied prospectively as of
the beginning of the fiscal year in which the statement is initially applied, with certain exceptions. A transition
adjustment, measured as the difference between the carrying amounts and the fair values of certain specific financial
instruments at the date SFAS No. 157 is initially applied may be required. SFAS No. 157 will affect certain fair value
disclosures, but is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of




operations. The portion of the Company s assets and liabilities with fair values based on unobservable inputs |s not

signifi cant.

In February 2007 FASB issued SFAS No. 159, "The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities” which permits an entity to measure certain financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value. The
objective of SFAS No. 159 is to improve financial reporting by allowing entities to mitigate volatility in reported
earnings caused by the measurement of related assets and liabilities using different attributes, without having to
apply complex hedge accounting provisions.” The election for the fair value option is a one-time glection for existing

instruments and once fair value is elected for a particular instrument, that instrument is carfied throughdut the holding ~

" period at falrlva!ue If elected, SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, which

for the Company is October 1, 2008. The Company has elected not to use the fair value option.
. In November 2007, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 109, “Written Loan Commitments

" Recorded at Fair Value Through Earnings.” SAB 109 supersedes SAB 105, “Miscellaneous Accounting — Loan

Commitments Accounted for as Derivative Instruments.” SAB 109 requires a company to include the value of the
mortgage sefvicing asset in the estimated fair value of the commitments on loans to be sold. SAB 105 had stated
that this treatment was inappropriate. The new guidance should be applied prospectively to commitments accounted
for at fair value that are issued or modified in fiscal quarters beginning after December 15, 2007, which for the
Company was January 1, 2008. The adoption of SAB 109 did not have a material |mpact on the Company s financial
statements

_In December 2007, the SEC codiﬁed SAB 110 as part of SAB Topic 14.D.2, “Share-Based Payment: Certain
Assumptions Used in Valuation Methods — Expected Term.” SAB 110 permits companies, under certain
circumstanceés, to continue to use the simplified method when calculating the expected term of “plain vanilla” share
options. Originally, the simplified method was due to expire on December 31, 2007. A company may use the
simplified method if it concludes that it is not reasonable to base its estimate of expected term on its experience with
exercising historical share options. SAB 110 was effective for the Company on January 1, 2008. Management
determined there was sufficient history of stock option exercises to develop an expected term based on historical
experience so the simplified method will no longer be used to calculate expected term when stock options are
granted. The adoption of SAB 110 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(R) “Business Cambinations™ and SFAS No. 180,
“Noncontrolllng Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51." These statements
change the way companies account for business combinations and noncontrolhng interests (minority interests in
current GAAP) and continue the FASB's push toward more fair value reporting in financial statements. These
Statements should both be applied prospectively for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008, which for
the Company is October 1, 2009. However, Statement No. 160 requires entities to apply the presentation and
disclosure requurements retrospectwely to comparative financial statements, if presented. Both Statements prohibit
early- adoptlon Management is assessing the impact of the adoption of FASB Statements No. 141(R) and No. 160.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161 “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities — an amendment of FAS 133.” SFAS No. 161 requires an entity with derivatives to describe how and why it
uses derivative instruments, how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No.
133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” and related interpretations, and how derivative
instruments and related hedged items affect the entity's financial position, financial performancé, and cash flows.

_SFAS No. 161 is effective for_the Company beginning January_ 1, 2009. The Company's adoption of SFAS No. 161 is

not expected to have a material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

'In"May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162 “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.”
The purpose of SFAS No. 162 is to improve financial reporting by providing a consistent framework for determining
what accountmg principles should be applied when preparing GAAP financial statements. The FASB believes that

- issuing the GAAP hierarchy as an FASB standard, recategorizing the existing-GAAP hierarchy into twa levels of
~ accounting Ilterature (authoritative and nonauthoritative), and elevaling the conceptual framework within the GAAP

hierarchy are key objectives of achieving the FASB's goal of improving the quality of accounting standards and the
standard-setting process. SFAS No. 162 is effective 60 days following the SEC’s approval of Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board {*PCAQB*}-amendment to AU Section 411. ‘The-Company’s adoption of SFAS- No 162
is not expected to have a material impact on’its {i nancml c¢ondition or results of operations. -

fn June 2008, the FASB issued Staff Posmon (“FSP™) Emerglng Issues Task Force (“EITF™) 03-6-1,
“Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions are Participating Securities,"‘
which addresses whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities prior
to vesting and, therefore, need to be included in the earnings allocation in computing EPS under the two-class
method described in SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share.” EITF 03-6-1 states that unvested share-based payment
awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are participating securities and shall be
included in the computation of EPS pursuant to the two-class method. EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those years, which for the Company is October 1,
2009. Early appl:catlon is prohibited. The Company has not yet completed its assessment of the impact of EITF 03-

-6-1. i




e m - .
ch mm m mmew P =

Management Strategy

Qur strategy is to operate a retail-oriented financia! institution dedicated to serving the needs of customers in
our market areas. Our commitment is to provide the broadest possible access to home ownership through our
mortgage lending programs and-to offer a complete set of personal banking products and services. We strive to

- enhance-stockholder value while malnlalnmg a-strong- capltal position. To achleve our strategy, we focus on the

following: —— ==~ -- ——— e - .. -

. Portfolio Lending. We are one of the largest originators of one- to four-family mortgage Ioans in the slate of
Kansas. We have primarily originated these loans for our own portfolio, rather than for sale, and generally we,
service the loans we onglnate We provide retail customers with alternatives for their borrowing needs by
offering both fixed- and adjustable-rate products with various terms to maturity and pricing allernatlves We
offer special programs to individuals who may be first time home buyers, have low or moderate incomeés or may
have certain credit risk concerns in order to maximize our ability to deliver home ownership opportunities.
Through our strong relationships with real estate agents and marketing efforts which reflect our reputation and
pricing, we attract mortgage loan business from walk-in customers, customers that apply online, and existing
customers. We also purchase one- to four-family mortgage loans from correspondent lenders secured by
property primarily located within our market areas and select market areas in Missouri and nationwide lenders.

. Retail Financial Services. We offer a wide array of deposit products and retail services for our customers.
These products include checking, savings, meney market, certificates of deposit and retirement accounts.
These products and services are provided through a branch network of 39 locations which includes traditional
branch and retail store locations, our call center which operates on extended hours, telephone bill payment
services and internet-based transaction services. ‘

. Cost Control. We generally are very effective at controliing our costs of operations, outside of the expense
portion of our employee benefit plans which are tied to the Company's stock price. By using technology, we are
able to centralize our lending and deposit support functions for efficient processing. Qur retail orientation allows
us to serve a broad range of customers through relatively few branch locations. Our average deposit base per
traditional branch at September 30, 2008 and 2007 was over $119.5 million and $123.3 million, respectively.
This large average depaosit base helps to control costs. Our one- to four-family mortgage lending strategy,
through effective management of credit risk, allows us to service a large portfolio of loans at efficient levels
because it costs less to service a portfolio of performing loans.

« - Assét Quality.” We utilize underwriting standards for our lending products that are designed to limit cur
exposure to credit risk, and have a portfalio of predominately one- to four-family mortgage loans which.has
resulted in minimal levels of delinguent and non-performing loans. At September 30, 2008, our ratic of non-
performing assets to total assets was 0.23%, which continues to remain at low levels relative to the size of our
loan portfolio. See additional discussion of asset quality in Part |, Item 1 of the Annual Report.on Form 10-K.

. Capital Position. Our policy has always been to protect the safety and soundness of the Bank through
conservative credit and operational risk management, balance sheet strength, and sound operations. The end
result of these activities is a capital ratio in excess of the well-capitalized standards set by the Office of Thrift
Supervision (*OTS"). ‘We believe that maintaining a strong capltal posmon safeguards the Iong term :nterests of

the Bank, the Company and our stockholders. - - K '

. Stockholder Value. We strive to enhance stockholder value while maintaining a strong capital position. We
continue to provide returns to stockholders through our dividend payments, Total dividends declared and paid
during fiscal year 2008 were $2.00 per share. In October 2008, the board of directors declared a $0.50 per
share dividend which was paid on November 21, 2008 to holders of record on November 7, 2008. Due to
MHC's waiver of dividends, the dividend of $0.50 per share was paid only on public shares. On November 10,
2008, the board of directors approved a special year end cash dividend of $0.11 per share which will be paid on
December 5, 2008 to stockholders of record on November 21, 2008. The Company's cash dividend payout

_ _ policy.is reviewed.quarterly. by management and the board.of directors,.and.the ability to pay dividends under
- the policy depends upon a-number-of factors-including the Company's financial condition, resuits-of operations,
regulatory capital requirements of the Bank, other regulatory limitations on the Bank's ability to make capital
distributions to the Company and the continued waiver of dividends by MHC. It is management's and the board
of directors’ intention to continue to pay regular quarterly dividends of $0.50 per share for the foreseeable future
and a special dividend each year, to the extenljustiﬁgd by earnings, under the Company's stated special
dividend formuta. ’

#

o Interest Rate Risk Management Changes in interest rates are our primary market risk as our balance sheet is
almost entirely comprised of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities. As such, fluctuations in
interest rates have a significant impact not only upon our net income but also upon the cash flows related to
those assets and liabilities and the market value of our assets and liabilities. To manage interest rate risk, the
Asset and Liability Committee (*ALCO") meets weekly to discuss and monitor the current interest rate
environment compared to interest rates offered on our loan and deposit products. Additionally, ALCO meets
once a month to review information regarding the sensitivity of our assets and liabilities to changes in rates.

The members of ALCQ are the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financiat Officer (chair of




ALCO) the Executive Vice President for Corporate Services, the Chief Lending Off' icer, the Executive Vice

Presrdent for Retall Operatlons and the Chief Investment Officer. : .

. Liquidity Management The Bank must manage its daily cash flows. Cash flow management is accompllshed
through establishing interest. rates on loan and deposit products, investing cash flows not placed inte mortgage
loans, purchasing securities that meet the long term objectives of earnings, liquidity management and interest
rate risk management and borrowing funds if cash flows are not sufficient to meet tocal loan demand or to
{leverage excess capital” ‘Generally, management manages the'Bank's asset and Ilabltlty portfollos including == =~ ™|
,the available-for-sale Securities portfolic; as hald- -to-matirity portfolios. “Ag such, changes in theé balanceormix — " 1
*of products in these portfolios typically do not occur quickly, especially in a rising rate environment. Because of
.this, management looks at changes over a period of time to determine trends that can bé changed through
.varrous strategies in our local markets, by the investments and mortgage loans we purchase or by borrowings
iwe incur.

Qua'lntitati\?e and Qualitative D:isclosure about Market Risk - .
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Assét and Liability Management and Market Risk

} ‘The rates of interest we earn on assets and pay on |tabl|lt|es generally are established contractually for a period

of time. Fluctuations in interest rates have a significant impact not only upon our net income, but also upon the cash
flows of those assets and liabilities and the market value of our assets and liabilities. Our results of operations, like )
those of other financial institutions, are impacted by these changes in interest rates and the interest rate sensitivity of - !
our mterest—earnlng assets and interest-bearing liabilities. The risk associated with changes in interest rates on the
earnings of the Bank and the market value of its financial assets and liabilities is known as interest rate risk. Interest
rate rrsk is our most significant market risk and our ablllty to adapt to these changes is known as interest rate risk
management .

‘Based upon management s recommendations, the board of directors sets the asset and liability management
policies of the Bank. These policies are implemented by ALCO. The purpose of ALCO is to communicate, . 1
coordinate and control asset and liability management consistent with the business plan and board-approved policies.
ALCO sets goals for and monitors the volume and mix of assets and funding sources taking into account relative {
costs and spreads interest rate sensitivity and liquidity needs. The objectives are to manage assets and funding !
sources to produce the highest profitability balanced against liquidity, capital adequacy and risk management ' i
objectives. At each monthly meeting, ALCO recommends appropriate strategy changes. The Chief Financial Officer;
or hig deS|gnee is responsible for executing, reviewing and reporting on the results of the pollcy recommendations
and strategles to the board of directors, generally on a monthly basis. — - - -4
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iThe ablllty to maximize net interest income is dependent largely upon the achrevement ofa posmve interest rate '

spread that ¢an be sustained despite fluctuations in prevailing interest rates. The asset and trab|llty repricing gap is a
measure of the difference between the amount of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities which either
reprlce or mature within a given period of time.. The difference provides an indication of the extent to which an
institution's interest rate spread will be affected by changes in interest rates. A gap is considered positive when the
amount of |nterest-earnmg assets exceeds the amount of interest-bearing liabilities, maturing or repricing during the'
same penodl A gap is considered negatlve when the amount of interest-bearing liabilities exceeds the amount of

mterest-earnlng assets maturing or reprlcmg during the same period. Generally, during a period of rising interest I

- rates, a negative gap within Shorter repricing périods adversely affects net interest income, while a positive gap within
shorter repricing periods results in an increase in net interest income. During a period of falling interest rates, the
opposrte wauld generally be true. As of September 30, 2008, the ratio of our one-year gap to total assets was 1.90%.

‘Management recognizes that dramatic changes in mterest rates within a short period of trme can cause an

' :norease in our interest rate risk relative to the balance sheet. ‘At times, ALCO may recommend increasing our

rnterest rate rlsk position in an effort to increase our net |nterest margin, while maintaining compliance with

established board limits for |nterest rate risk sensitivity. Management believes that mamtatnlng and improving

eammgs is the best way to preserve a strong capital pesition. ‘Management recognizes the need, in certain interest

rate environments, to fimit the Bank's exposure to changmg |nterest rates and may implement strategies to reduce _I
our interest rate risk which"could; ag"a result, reduce eamlngs in the'short-term.” To minimize the potential for —~—— — 7

~ adverse effects of material and prolonged changes in interest rates on our results of operations, we have: adopted .
asset and liability management policies to better balance the matuntles and repricing terms of our interest-earning ~

assets and interest-bearing liabilities based on existing local and national interest rates

During periods of economic uncertainty, rising interest rates or extreme competition for loans, the Bank's ability
to originate or purchase loans may be adversely affected. In suoh situations, the Bank alternatively may invest its
. funds into investments or MBS. These alternate investments may have rates of interest lower than rates we could
receive on loans, if we were able to originate or purchase them, potentially reducing the Bank’s interest income.

——— e ———



Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

For each period presented in the following table, the-percentage change in the Bank's estimated net interest

"income based on the indicated instantaneous, parallel and permanent change in interest rates are presented. The

percentage change in each interest rate environment represents the difference between estimated net interest

-income in the 0 basis point interest rate-environment (“base-case’, assumes forward market and product interest
rates-implied-by the yield curve are realized) and-estimated net interest income in each alternative interestrate :

environment (assumes market and product interest rates have a parallel shift in rates across all maturities by the
indicated change in rates). At September 30, 2008, the three-month Treasury bill yiéld was less than two percent, SO
the -200 basis point scenario is not presented. Estimations of net interest income used in preparing the table below
are based upon the assumptions that the total composition of |nterest -earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities
does not change materially and that any repricing of assets or liabilities occurs at anticipated product and market

- rates for the alternative rate environments as of the dates presented. The estimation of net interest i income does not

include any projected gain-on-sale related to the sale of loans or securities or the effect of the use of new interest rate
swaps or income derived from non-interest income sources, but does include the use of different prepayment
assumptions in the alternative interest rate environments. It is important to consider that the changes in estimated
net interest income are for a cumulative four-quarter period. These do not reflect the earnings expectations of ;
management. ‘

.
'

Percentage Change in Net Interest Income

Change
(in Basis Points) At September 30,
in Interest Rates'" 2008 2007
-100 bp -0.67% ) 14.10% ' '
000 bp : . - :
+100 bp - -2.20% -8.31%
+200 bp -5.08% -23.10%
" +300 bp -8.62% -38.32%

(1) Assumes an instantaneous, permanent and parallel change In interest rates at all maturities.

The primary driver for the decrease in the estimated net interest income in the increasing rate environments is
ihe anticipated increase in the cost of interest-bearing liabilities in excess of increases in the yields on interést-
earning assets. The increase in the cost of interest-bearing liabilities is primarily a result of the relatively short
average maturity of the Bank’s certificate of deposit portfolio. The increase in the cost of interest-bearing fiabilities is
also due to anticipated increases in the cost of money market accounts. Increases in yield do not occur as'quickly for
interest-earning assets since changes in the rates on the mortgage loan and MBS portfolios happen at a slower pace,
compared to the interest-bearing liabilities, because only the amount of cash flow received on the repayment of these
portfolios is reinvested at the higher rates. Principal repayments on the mortgage loan-and MBS portfotios decrease
significantly in the rising rate scenario resulting in less cash flow being reinvested. In addition, caps on adjustable-
rate mortgage products limit the increase in rates in these assets when rates rise, S

The decrease in the sensitivity of estimated net interest income since September 30, 2007 in the increasing rate
scenarios was primarily driven by rotling borrowings that matured during the year into longer-term borrowings. During
the fiscal year, $525.0 million in borrowings that matured were rofled into fixed-rate borrowings with maturities of five
years or longer. The Bank also terminated $575.0 million of interest rate swaps during the year. The interest rate
swaps effectively converted long-term fixed-rate advances into adjustable-rate advances that repriced month!y Once
the swaps were termlnated the advances remained as Iong-ten'n fixed- rate Itablimes that wall not repnce in the

~ upcoming year. - , - -

The decrease in the estimated net interest income if interest rates were to decrease 100 basis po:nts is

. primarily the result of a higher amount of assets expected to reprice in the next 12 months (see gap table below) in

the base case interest rate scenario. The amount of asséts repricing will increase further in the down 100 scenario
due to an increase in the anticipated cash flows from mortgage related assets due to lower interest rates.

The following table sets forth the percentage change in estimated market value of pertfolio equity (*MVPE") at
each period presented based on the indicated instantaneous, parallel and permanent change in interest rates. The
MVPE is defined as the net of the present value of the cash flows of an institution’s existing assets, liabilities and off-
balance sheet instruments. The percentage change in each interest rate environment represents the difference
between MVPE in the base case and MVPE in each alternative interest rate environment. At September 30, 2008,
the three-month Treasury bill was less than two percent, so the -200 basis point scenario is not presented. The
estimations of MVPE used in preparing the table below are based upon the assumptions that the total compasition of
interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities does not change, that any repricing of assets or liabilities occurs
at current product or market rates for the alternative rate e:nvironments as of the dates presented and that different

: !




prepayment rates are used in each alternative interest rate environment. The estimated MVPE results from the

Jvaluation of cash flows from financial assets and liabilities over the anticipated lives of each for each interest rate

environment. The table presents the effects of the change in interest rates on our assets and liabilities as they

~mature, repay or reprice, as shown by the change in the MVPE in changing interest rate environments.

Percentage Change in MVPE

_Change _ e o X e e e e o e
(in Basis.Points)._ . _ .. .i.AtSeptember30, .. . _. ... .. .. o ... ... ...
in Interest Rates'" 2008 2007 - ' _ \
-100 bp 0.36% . 4.77% ' : : , ‘
1 000bp ‘ - 7 - . ) :
| +100bp -6,99% . -13.05% ' o V!
¢ +200 bp- -19.37% ' -29.99% . . . s
' +300bp " -34.88% -49.00% ’

(1) ASSL;IITIeS an instantaneous, permanent and parallel change in interest rales at all maturities.

:Changes in the estimated market-values of our financial assets and liabilities drive changes in estimates of
MVPE The market value of shorter term-to-maturity financial instruments is less sensitive to changes in intecest
rates than the market value of longer term-to-maturity financial instruments. Because of this, our certificates of
deposit {which have relatively short average lives) tend to display less sensitivity to changes in inlerest rates than do
our mortgage-related assets {which have relatively long average lives). However, the average life expected on our
mortgage-related assets varies under different interest rate environments because customers have the abiiity to
prepay their mortgage loans, Prepayment assumptions change on mortgage-related assets under various inierest
rate environments because many customers with mortgage debt look to obtain financing at the lowest cost available.
Generally, lh;ere is no penalty to prepay a mortgage loan we have originated or purchased. If rates decrease, the
customer hag an economic incentive to lower the cost of his mortgage (through a lower interest rate) with only the :
fees assomated with the new mortgage or loan modification to obtain the lower cost mortgage. In a decreasing rate '
environment, prepayments increase and the average life of a mortgage shortens compared to higher rate . A
enwronments When interest rates increase, the economic incentive for customers to modify their mortgage debt is o
reduced resultlng in lower prepayment speed assumptions and longer average lives. !

‘The Bank $ MVPE declines in the rising interest rate envuronments Asrates increase, the estimated farr values - \
of the Ilablhtles with short average lives do not respond to rates in the same manner as the Ionger malurity assets, f ;
such!as our fixed-rate loans, which have Ionger average lives. The prepayment assumptions on the fixed-ratz loans
in particular, and all mortgage-related assets in general, anticipate prepayment rates in the increasing rate ‘ '
environments that would likely only be realized through normal changes in customers lives, such as divorce, death, i’
job-related relocations, and other life changing events. The lower prepayment assumptions extend the expected
average lives on these assets, relative to assumptions in the base case, thereby increasing their sensitivity to
changes in 1nteresl rates. The net effect of these characteristics of short-lived liabilities and Iong-lived assets is to
increase the sensubwty of the Bank to-changes in interest rates the more rates increase.

" The sensmwty of the Bank's MVPE as of September 30, 2008 decreased from September 30, 2007. This was

. primarily due to lower interest rates at September 30, 2008 that resulted in shorter average lives of mortgage-related

assets. In additlon the Bank extended the average lives of borrowings during the year. This was accomplished
primarily by rolling borrowings that matured during the year mto longer-term borroqugs and terminating $575.0

‘ m;lhon of interest rate swaps. R

‘The Bank s measure of its MVPE sensitivity to decllnlng |nterest rates indicates little change from the base case '
interest rate scenano at September 30, 2008. The increase in MVPE, if interest rates drop 100 basis points, is .
primarily driven by the short-term nature of our liabilities compared to the decrease in the expected lives of our o
assets relative to the.base case rate. scenario, as a-result of an-assumed.increase in prepayment speeds.on R

' mortgage-reiated assets, primarily our fixed-rate loan'portfolio; - Given the current-composition of ourican: ;:lorrfolu:v~~ TTT "_

and the current interest rate environment, it is likely that many,of our customers would be economically enticed to
refinance or modify their mortgage loans w1th a 100 basis point decline in rates compared to the base case scenario.
i
General assumptions used by management to evaluate the sensitivity of our financial performance to changes
in interest rates presented in the tables above are utilized in, and set forth under, the gap table and related notes

- beginning on page 17. Although management finds these assumptions reasonable given the constraints described

above, the interest rate sensitivity of our assets and liabilities and the estimated effects of changes in interest rates on
our net interest income and MVPE indicated in the above tab!es could vary substantiaily if different assumptions were

" . used or actual experience differs from these assumptions. ..
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{1) Adjustable-rate loans are included in the period in which the rate is next scheduled to adjust or in the period in which
repayments are expecled 1o occur, or prepayments are expected to be received, prior to their next rate adjustment, rather than in
the period in which the loans are due. Fixed-rate loans are included in the periods in which they are scheduled to be repaid, based
on scheduled amortization and prepayment assumptions.

(2) Batances have been reduced for non-performing loans, which totated $13.7 million at September 30, 2008.

{3) Based on contractual maturities, terms to call date or pre-refunding dates as of September 30, 2008, and excludes the
unrealized loss adjustment of $2.1 million on AFS investment securities.

(4) Reflects estimated prepayments -of MBS.in-our portfollo and excludes the unrealized ioss adjustment of $7.5 million-on AFS
MBS. - - - — N - - -
(5) Although our checkmg. savings and money market accounts are subject to 1mmed|ate mthdrawal management constders a
substantial amount of such accounts to be core deposits having significantly longer effective maturities. The decay rates (the
assumed rate at which the balance of existing accounts would decline) used on these accounts are based on assumptions
developed from our actual experience with these accounts. If all of our checking, savings and money market accounts had been
assumed to be subject to repricing within one year, interest-bearing liabilities which were estimated to mature or reprice within one
year would have exceeded interest-earning assets with comparable characteristics by $849.5 million, for a cumulative one-year gap
~of (11.8)% of total assets,

(6) Borrowings exclude the $1.1 million deferred gain on the terminated interest rate swap agreements and $28 thousand of
capitalized debt issuance costs on other borrowings. ) - -

The change in the one-year gap to positive 1. 90% from a negative 11.57% from September 30, 2007 tc
September 30 2008, respectively, occurred for two reasons. The first was a reduction of liabilities repricing in the
upcoming year, caused primarily by the termination of $575.0 million of interest rate swaps hedging FHLB advances.
These interest rate swaps effectively converted long-term fixed-rate advances to adjustable-rate advances that
repriced monthly Once the swaps were terminated the advances became long-term fixed-rate liabilities that will not
reprice in the upcoming year. The Bank also had FHLB advances that matured and were extended. The second
reason for the change in the one-year gap was the decrease in interest rates, which are expected to cause an
increase in the projected cash flows in the upcoming year from mortgage lcan prepayments. This results in shorter
average lives and quicker repricing of assets than the September 30, 2007 projections.

,The gap table summarizes the anticipated maturities or repricing of our interest-earning assets and interest-
bearing liabilities as of September 30, 2008, based on the information and assumptions set forth in the notes above.
Cash flow projections for mortgage loans and MBS are calculated based on current interest rates. Prepayment
projections are subjective in nature, involve uncertainties and assumptions and, therefore, cannot be determined with
a high degree of accuracy. Although certain assets and liabilities may have similar maturities or periods to regricing,
they may react differently to changes in market interest rates. Assumptions may not reflect how actual yields and
costs respond to market changes. The interest rates on certain types of assets and liabilities may fluctuate in
advance of changes in market interest rates, while interest rates on other types of assets and liabilities may lag
behind changes in market interest rates. Certain assets, such as adjustable-rate mortgage (*ARM") loans, have
features that'restrict changes in interest rates on a short-term basis and over the life of the asset. In the eventof a
change in interest rates, prepayment and early withdrawal levels likely would deviate significantly from those
assumed in ¢alculating the gap table. For additional information regarding the impact of changes in interest rates;
see the “Percentage Change in Net Interest Income” and “Percentage Change in MVPE" tables above.




Financial Condition

Total assets increased $379.4 million from $7.68 billion at September 30, 2007 to $8.06 billion at September 30,
2008. The increase in assets was primarily attributed to an increase in MBS of $820.1 million which was partially
offset by a decrease in investment securities of $381.8 million. The increase in the MBS portfolio was a result of cash
flows from the investment securities portfolio being reinvested into the MBS portfolio at a higher average yield, and
funds from repurchase agreements being usedto purchase MBS. The decrease in the'investment securities portfollo
was a result of calls and maturities that were not replaced in their entirety. The ylerds on MBS were more attractlve
than the yields on investment securities during the year due to the broad disruption in the mortgage market that led to
a decrease in the demand for MBS from other market participants, resulting in higher yields on MBS relative to other
investment altemnatives.

Total liabilities increased $375.8 million from $6.81 billion at September 30, 2007 to $7.18 billion at September
30, 2008. The increase in liabilities was primarily a resuit of entering into $660.0 million of repurchase agreements,
partially offset by a decrease in FHLB advances of $285.1 million. The repurchase agreements replaced certain
maturing FHLB advances, as the rate and term offerings on the repurchase agreements were more favorable than :
other funding options on those dates. ‘Additionally, funds from repurchase agreements were used to purchase MBS.
The interest rate spreads between borrowing costs and investment options, at certain times during fiscal year 2008,
were at levels above historical averages when considering the related interest rate and credit risk exposure. :
Management intends to continue to borrow funds to purchase securities when interest rate spreads are at acceptable

- levels. Management believes that such transactions, if completed, will contribute to :mprowng the earnings of the

Company and not create excessive interest rate or credit risk exposure.

Stockholders’ equity increased $3.6 million from $867.6 million at September 30, 2007 to $871.2 million at
September 30, 2008.

Loans Receivable. The loan portfolio increased $30.7 million from $5.29 billion'at September 30, 2007 to
$5.32 billion at September 30, 2008. Loans purchased from nationwide lenders represented 14% of the loan portfolio
at September 30, 2008 compared to 17% at September 30, 2007. As of September 30, 2008, the average balance of
a purchased mortgage loan was approximately $350 thousand while the average balance of an originated morigage
loan was approximately $125 thousand.

The yield on our loan portfolio decreased 4 basis points from 5.73% at September 30, 2007 to 5.69% at
September 30, 2008. The decrease in the yield was a result of a decrease in the rate on home equity loans tied to ;
the Prime rate during the current fiscal year.

Included in the loan portfolio at September 30, 2008 were $336.7 million of interest-only loans, whlch were
prirmarily purchased from nationwide lenders during fiscal year 2005. These loans do not typically require principal
payments during their initia! term, and primarily have initial interest-only terms of either five or ten years, Al
September 30, 2008, $327.3 million, or 97%, of these loans were still in their interest-only payment term. Asof
September 30, 2008, $142.3 million wilt begin to amortize pnnctpal within two years, $30.2 million will begin’ '
amortizing principat within two-to-five years, and the remaining $154.8 million will begin to amortize principal within '
five-to-ten years. Loans of this type generally are considered.to be of greater risk to the lender because of the
pussibility that the borrower may default once principal payments are required. We attempt to mitigate the risk of
interest-only loans by using prudent underwriting criteria. Interest-only loans we purchased had an average credit

_score greater than 700 and an average LTV ratic of 80% or less at the time of purchase.

The Bank's underwriting guidelines have provided the Bank with loans of high quality and generally hlstoncally
low delinquencies and low levels of non-performing assets compared to national levels. Of particular importance is-
the compléte documentation required for each loan the Bank originates and purchases. This allows the Bank to
make an informed credit decision based upon a thorough assessment of the borrower’s ability to repay the loan
compared to underwriting methodologies that do not require full documentation. The continued decline in the real '
estate markets, as well as the overall economic enwronment contributed to an increase in our non-performing loans

_during the year. The balance of our non-performing Ioans increased from $7.4 million at September 30, 2007 to
$13.7.million at.September.30, 2008. .Our ratio of non- performmg loans.to.total loans.increased.from 0.14%.at -

September 30, 2007 to 0.26% at September 30, 2008. Despite the increase in non-performing loans at September
30, 2008, our non-performing loans continue to remain at low levels relative to the size of our loan portfolio. At
September 30, 2008, our allowance for loan losses was $5.8 million or 0.11% of the total loan portfolio and 42% of
total non-accruing loans. This compares with an allowance for loan losses of $4.2 million or ¢.08% of the total loan
portfolio and 57% of total non-accruing loans as of September 30, 2007. See additional discussicn of asset quality in
Part |, Item 1 of the Annual Report on Form 10-K.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, tHe rate on the Bank's 30-year fixed-rate loans, with no points
paid by the borrower, were approximately 220 basis points above the average 10-year Treasury rate, while the rate
on the Bank’s 15-year fixed-rate loans were approximately 175 basis points above the average 10-year Treasury
rate. The Bank’s loan pricing is benchmarked to the secondary market mortgage pricing.
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Liabilities. Liabilities increased from $6.81 billion at September 30, 2007 to $7.18 billion at September 30,
2008. The $374.1 million increase in liabilites was due primarily to entering into $660.0 million of repurchase
agreements, partially offset by a decrease in FHLB advances of $285.1 million. The decrease in FHLB advances
was due to $1.13 billion of maturing advances, of which only $825.0 million were renewed. Certain FHLB advances
were replaced with repurchase agreements because rates and terms were more favorable than other funding options
on those dates. The use of repurchase agreements also allows for the diversification of funding sources.
Management will continue to monitor market conditions for funding opportunities that can be leveraged to improve
eamnings W|th0ut creatlng undue inlerest rate or credit risk exposure.

The following table presents the amount, average rate and percentage of total deposnts for checkmg, savmgs
money market and certificates for the periods presented.

At At
September 30, 2008 : September 30, 2007

Average of Average - % of:

*__Amount Rate Total Amount Rate Total

: ' {Dollars in thousands) ‘
Checking $ 400,461 . 0.21% 10.21% $ 394,109 0.21% 10.05%

Savings 232,103 1.51 5.91 237,148 2.58 6.04

Money market 772323 - 148 19.68 790,277 3.18 T 2015

Certificates 2,518,996 3.91 64.20 2,501,248 4.77 © 63.76
Total deposits - $3,923,883 2.91% 100.00% $ 3,922,782 3.86% 100.00%

At September 30, 2008, $180.6 million of the $2.52 billion in certificates were brokered deposits, compared to
$193.0 million in brokered and public unit deposits at September 30, 2007. There were no public unit deposits at
September 30, 2008 as management did not pursue public unit deposits. During the quarter ending December 31,
2008, $85.0 miltion of brokered deposits are scheduled to mature. Management will continue to monitor the
wholesale deposit market for attractive opportunities to replace maturing deposits.

Stockholders' Equity. Stockholders' equity increased $3.6 million from $867.6 million at September 30, 2007
to $871.2 million at September 30, 2008. The increase was primarily a result of net income of $51.0 million and
ESOP activity of $7.5 million, partially offset by dividends paid of $41.4 million, treasury stock purchases of $7.3 |
million and an increase in unrealized losses on AFS securities of $7.3 million.

Dividends from the Company are the only source of funds for MHC. it is expected that MHC will wawe future *
dividends exceplt to the extent they are needed to fund its continuing operations. The following table shows the
number of shares eligible to receive dividends {“public shares”) because of the waiver of dividends by MHC at
September 30, 2008. The unvested shares in the ESOP receive cash equal to the dividends paid on the public !
shares. The cash received is used to repay the annuai debt obligation on the loan taken out by the ESOP from the
Company at the time of the mutual-to-stock conversion of the Bank to purchase shares for the ESOP. These shares
are held in trust for a future employee benefit, and are therefore excluded from the calculation of public shares.

Total voting shares outstanding at September 30, 2007 : 74,258,977
Treasury stock acquisitions (225,042)
Recognition and Retention Plan (“RRP") grants, net 10,000
_ Options exercised, net o Tl . - 35,933
Total votmg shares outstanding at September 30, 2008 74,079,868
Unvested shares in ESOP ’  {1,008,194) | .
Shares held by MHC . (52,192,817) ' '

Total shares eligible to receive dividends at September 30, 2008 {public shares} 20,878,857 i




Weighted Average Yields and Rates: The following table presents the weighted ave:rage yields earned on loans,

. securities.and other interest-earning assets, the weighted average rates paid on deposits, certificates and borrowings

and the resultant interest rate spreads at the dates indicated. Yields on tax-exempt securmes are not calculated on a
tax-equivalent basis.

At September 30,
- - - ‘ R 2008 - - . 2007 - -2006

' —_— e — i — - - - —— B e ——— — - - . - - [V —_— aa

Weighted average yield on:

Loans receivable 5.69% 5.73% 5.64%
MBS 482 4.46 4,54
Investment securities 3.94 452 4.46
Capital stock of FHLB 4.73 6.68 6.24
Cash and cash equivalents 2.95 - 494 - -5.19.
. Compbined weighted average yield on -
' interest-earning assets - 537 541 5.29 |
1 ) i
Weighted a{.ferage rate paid on; .
Savings deposits'" 1.51 2.58 0.65
Checking deposits 0.21 0.21 0.21
Money market deposits "1.48 - 3.18 3.31
Certificates of deposit 3.91 477 4.35 :
FHLB advances™ 4.75 5.39 4.88 '
Other borrowings 4.09 8.12 8.28
Combined weighted average rate pald on :
|nterest-bear|ng liabilities 3.67 4.52 4.22 ‘
Net Interest Rate Spread 1.70% .0.89% 1.07% !

(&})] } The increase in the weighted average rate on savings deposits at September 30, 2007 corﬁ;)ared to September 30, 2006 is

due to the reclassification of variable-rate retirement certificates of deposit to savings during fiscal year 2007. The variable-rate
retirement certificates of deposit did not have a stated maturity date as a result of changes requ:red by the Bank's new core
information technology processing system.

(2) The September 30, 2008 rate includes the impact of the deferred gain associated with the interest rate swap termination.
during fiscal year 2008. The September 30, 2007 and 2006 rates include the impact of the interest rate swap agreements

l '

Average Balance Sheetg The following tables present certain tnformatlon regardlng our financial condition and net .
interest income for fiscal years 2008; 2007, and-20086, and for the quarters ended September 30, 2008 and June 30, .
2008. The tables present the average yield on interest-earning assets and the average cost of interest-bearing ;
liabilities for the periods indicated. We derived the yields and costs by dividing income or expense by the average ;
balance of interest-earning assets or interest-bearing liabilities, respectively, for the periods shown. We: derived
average balances from daily balances over the periods indicated, except as noted. Interest income includes fees that '
we cjonsider“ed adjustments to yields. Yields on tax-exempt securities were not calculated on a tax-equivalent basis.
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For the Three Months Ended

September 30, 2008 June 30, 2008
Average Average
Outstanding Yield/ Outstanding Yield/
Balance Rate Balance Rate
Assets : g : (Dollars in thousands)
Interest-earning-assets: -~ .- s R - - - -
Loans receivable™ -~ - - — “§ —-5328776° ~ 569% ~ $ ~ 5316794 ~ T562% T "7 C
MPS ; 2,192,268 . 477 2,107,757 4.72
Investment securities®” _ 144,718 3.95 © 128,784 4,03
Capital stock of FHLB 124,365 472 128,379 4.71
Cash and cash equivalents 59,351 . 1.92 90,556 2.03
Tuté.l intereét-earning assets 7,849,478 5.36 ' 7,772,270 5.29
Other noninterest-earning assets™ 151,695 187,701
Total assets . $ 8,001,173 $ 7,959,971
Liabilities and stockholders' equity
interest- bean‘ng liabilities: : )
Deposnts ‘ . $ - 3,920,340 294% § 3,965,449 3.15%
FHLB advances® - 2,469,082 473 2,547,450 4.75
Borrowmgs other 638,463 4.10 452,458 4.0%
Total interest-bearing liabilities 7,027 885 3.67 " 6,965,357 3.80
Other noninterest-bearing liabilities™ 103,332 . - 122,747
Stockholders’ equity 869,956 871,867
Total Iiabilitiqs and stockholders' equity $ 8,001,173 $ 7,959,971
Net interest rate spread 1.68% 1.49%
Net interest-earning assets $ 821,583 ‘ $ 806,913
Net interest margin 2.03% 1.80%
Ratio of interest-eamning assets - A
- to interes'l-bearing liabilities 1.12 1.12

|
(1)  Calculated net of undisbursed loan funds and unearned loan fees and deferred costs. Non-accruing loans are included in the
loans recelvab!e average balance at a yield of zero percent,
(2) . Investment securities include tax-exempt securities with an average balance of $45.8 million and $11.1 million and interest
moome of $1.6 million and $405 thousand for fiscal years 2008 and 2007, respectively. No tax-exempt securities were held in fiscal
year 2006. Investment securities include tax-exempt securities with an average balance of $55.0 million and $46.7 million and
interest income of $486 thousand and $439 thousand for the quarlers ended September 30, 2008 and June 30, 2008, respectlvely
(3). Calculated.using. month.end balances.. . . .- - -
(4)  Variable-rate retirement certificates of deposn were mcluded in the Savings average balance and weighted average rate for a

. portion of fi scal year 2007 after the replacement of the Bank’s core information technology processing system since they dic not

have a stated maturity date as a result of changes required by the Bank’s new core information technaology processing system. Prior
to the reptacement of the Bank’s core information technology processing system, variable-rate retirement certificates of deposit ware
included in Certificates.

(5} ! The rate calculation includes net interest expense of $2.3 m||1|on $13.6 million, and $8.6 mnlllon related to the interest rate

swaps for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2008, respectively. There were no swaps outstanding during the quarter ended September 30,

2008..The rate calculation lncludes net interest expense of $122 thousand related to the interest rate swaps for the quarter ended
June 30 2008.

The increase in the net interest margin from the quarter ended June 30, 2008 to the quarler ended

September.30,.2008 was. pnmanly a.result of a decrease in.the average.cost of | |nterest-beanng fiabilities, due Iar—gely — .

to the maturity of certificates that were replaced at lower rates. The increase was also caused by a modest increase
in the average vield on interest-earning assets due to increases in the yield on loans and MBS.
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Comparison of Results of Operations for the Years Ended September 30, 2008 and 2007

For fiscal' year 2008, the Company recognized net income of $51.0 million compared to net income of $32.3 .
million in fiscat year 2007. The $18.7 million increase in net income was primarily a result of a $28.5 million decrease
_in interest expense and a $6.0 million increase in other income, partially offset by an $8.6 million increase in income
‘tax expense, a $4.3 million increase in other expenses, and a $2.3 million increase in the provision for loan loss.

Totalinterest and-dividend income-for the current fiscal year was-$410.8 million compared-to $411.6 millionin - - -
the pnor fiscal'year.” Total'interest expense for the current fiscal year was $276:6 million compared to'$305.1 million =~ ——
in the prior fi scal year. Net interest margin, before provision for loan losses, was $134.2 million compared to $106.4
million in the' prior fiscal year.

‘As a result of the flat or inverted yield curve during fiscal year 2007 and the relatively short term to reprice our
' liabilities compared to our assets, the Bank experienced net interest margin compression during fiscal year 2007.
The steeper, more normalized yield curve during fiscal year 2008 has benefited the net interest margin, as short-term
liabilities have repriced to lower interest rates while cash flows from the mortgage loan and MBS portfolros have been
remvested a rates comparable to that of the exustmg portfolio. - .

Interest income on loans receivable in the current fiscal year was $302.0 million compared to $294.7 mllhon in
the prror fi scal year, The $7.3 million increase in loan interest income was a result of a $71.4 million increase in the
average baIance of the loan portfolio between the two periods and an increase of 6 basis points in the weightad
average yield of the loan portfolio to 5.68% for the current fiscal year. The increase in the weighted average yield can
be attributed pnmanly to loans originated thr0ughout the year at rates higher than the overall portfolio rate.

"Interest income on government agency-backed MBS in the current fiscal year was $88.4 million compared to
$68.8 million in the prior fiscal year,- The $19.6 million increase in interest income was due to an increase of $282.3
mrlhon in the average balance of the portfolic and an increase of 40 basis points in the average yield to 4.68% for the
current fiscal'year. The increase in the average portfolio balance was due primarily to the utilization of cash available
for investmenit and funds from borrowings to purchiase MBS rather than other investment securities due to the more
favorable yields available on MBS. The weighted average yield of the MBS portfolio increased betwaen the two
periods due to the purchase of MBS with yields higher than the existing portfolio, the maturity and repayment of MBS
with lower yuelds and adjustable-rate MBS resetting to higher coupons.

rlnterest income on investment securities in the current fiscal year was $9.9 million compared to $30.8 million in
the prior fiscal year. The $20.9 million decrease in interest income was primarily a result of a decrease of $414.4
rnl!lron in the " average balance of the portfolio and, to a lesser extent, a 61 basis point decrease in the weighted
average portfolio yield to 4.09% for the current fiscal year. The decrease in the average balance was a resultof - = - _:
maturities and calls which were not reinvested into investment securities and were used, in part, to fund matunng
FHLB advances and purchase higher yielding MBS during fiscal year 2008. The decrease in the weighted average
yield of the portfolio was attributed to purchases with lower yields than the existing portfollo and maturities and calls
of securities with higher yields. "

i Dlwdends on FHLB stock in the current fiscal year were $6.9 million compared to $10.0 million in the prior fi scal
year.. The $3.1 million decrease in dividend income was due to a 117 basis point decrease in the average yield to
5.36% for the current fiscal year and a $24.3 million decrease in the average balance. The dividend rate on FHLB
stock correlates to the federal funds rate, which atso decreased during the current fiscal year. The decrease in the
o average balance was due to the redemption of shares as the requrred number of shares held is based pnmanly upon
- the balance of outstanding FHLB advances, which decreased during the current fiscal year.

Interest income on cash and cash equivatents in the current fiscal year was $3.6 million compared to $7.2
million in the,prior fiscal year. The $3.6 miliion decrease was a result of a 200 basis point decrease in the average
yield | to 3.11% for the current fiscal year due to a decrease in short-term market interest rates, and a decrease of
$26. 2 million-in the average balance as cash was utilized to purchase MBS and fund maturing FHLB advances.

Interest expense on deposits in the current fiscal year was $133.4 million cornpared to $147.3 million in the prior
fiscal year. The $13.9 million decrease in interest expense was primarily a result of a decrease in the rate ori the
money markét; certificate-and savings: portfolios due-to the portfolios repricing to lower market rates. During fi scal~ -
year 2007, the Bank increased the Tates offered 6n its certific: cate of depdsit portfolio, with'an emphasis on the 19~ = 7
" month to 36 month maturity category, in order to remain competmve As certificate of deposits matured during fi scal
year 2008, the amounts retained rolled into lower rate certificate products.

' Interest expense on FHLB advances in the current fi scal year was $125.7 million compared to $153.4 million in

| " the prior fiscal year. Thé $27.7 miltion decrease in interest expense was primarily a result of a decrease of $456.7

| million in the average balance due to matunng advances which were not renewed in their entirety and, to a lesser

' extent, a decrease of 14 basis points in the average rate to 4. 89% for the current fiscal year as a result of the

| termination of the interest rate swaps. During the quarter ended December 31, 2007, management terminated

| interest rate swaps with a notional amount of $575.0 million. The remaining interest rate swap matured in May 2008.

| During the current fiscal year, interest expense related to the interest rate swaps was $2.3 million, compared to $13.6
, million in the prior fiscal year.




1
'

Interest expense on other borrowings was $17.5 million compared to $4.5 million in the same period in the prior
‘year. The $13.0 million increase was due to an increase in the average balance of other borrowings due to the Bank
entering into $660.0 million of repurchase agreements during fiscal year 2008. Additional information about the
repurchase agreements is included under “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”

- -- «—During the current fiscal year, the Bank-recorded a provision for loan losses of $2:1- mllllon -compared 10 a

recovery forloan-tosses-of $225 thousand-in-the-prior-fiscal year. -Based-on our evaluation of the issues regarding :
the real estate markets, the overall economic environment, and the increase in and composition of our delinquencies
and non-performing loans, management determined a provision for loan losses was prudent and warranted for the
current fiscal year, See additional discussion regarding the provision for loan losses in the sections entitled “Crilical
Accounting Policies - Allowance for Loan Losses” and “Asset Quality” in Part |, Item 1 of the Annual Report,on Form
10-K. . '

Total other income increased $6.0 million to $30.0 million during the current fiscal year cornpared to $24.0
million for the prior fiscal year. The increase in other income was due primarily to increases in bank owned life
insurance (“BOLI") income, retail fees and other income, net. BOLI income was $2.3 million for the current fiscal year
compared to $27 thousand in the prior fiscal year as the Bank’s BOLI purchase was made during the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 2007. Retail fees increased $1.7 million due primarily to an increase in fees received on ATM and Visa
check cards from increased volume and an increase in the interchange rate received on point-of-sale transactions.
Other income, net increased $1.3 million due primarily to the redemption of shares received in the Visa, Inc. initial
public offering. Total proceeds from the Visa redemption reported in other income, net were $992 thousand, offset by
a liability accrual of $594 thousand, reported in other expense, net related to litigation involving Visa, Inc. for net
proceeds of $398 thousand. .

Total other expenses increased $4.3 million to $82.0 million during the current fiscal year compared to $77.7
million for the prior fiscal year. The increase was due primarily to an increase in salaries and employee benefits of
$2.2 million and an increase in other expense, net of $2.1 million. The increase in salaries and employee benefits
was due to an increase in costs associated with the short-term performance plan due to actual corporate
performance exceeding targeted performance levels, salary increases, and the lack of capitalization of payroll
expense in the current fiscal year, as satary costs related to the core conversion were capitalized in the prior fiscal
year. The increase in other expense, net was due primarily to a liability accrual of $594 thousand related to litigation
involving Visa, Inc., as mentioned above, $420 thousand related to real-estate owned write-downs, and a decrease in
prior year miscellaneous expenses of approximately $1.0 million.

* Income tax expense for the current fiscal year was $29.2 million compared to $20.6 million for the prior fiscal .
year. The increase in income tax expense was due to an increase in income, partially offset by a decrease in the
effective tax rate for the fiscal year to 36.4%, compared to 39.0% for the prior fiscal year. The decrease in the
effective tax rate between periods was a resuit of an increase in nontaxable income from municipal securmes and
BOLL, along with an increase in pre-tax income.

Comparison of Results of Operations for the Years Ended September 30, 2007 and 2006 !

For fiscal year 2007, the Company recognized net income of $32.3 million compared to net income of $48.1
million in fiscal year 2006. The $15.8 million decrease in net income was primarily a result of a $20.6 million .
decrease in net interest and dividend income and a $4.9 miillion increase in other expenses, offset by a $10. 0 million
decrease in income tax expense. .

Net interest and dividend income in fi sca] year 2007 was $106.4 million compared to $127.0 million in fiscal year
2006. The $20.6 million decrease between the two periods was a result of a $21.2 million increase in interest
expense, which was partially offset by a $622 thousand increase in interest and dividend income. The increase in
interest expense was mainly attributable to higher rates on the certificate of deposit and money market portfolios and
the interest rate swaps whroh are all generally priced based upon short-term interest rates (two year and shorter
maturities). . '

" T Interest income_on’1oans receivable in fiscal year 2007 was $294.7 million compared to $303.8 million in fiscal

year 2006. The $9.1 million decrease in loan interest income was primarily due to a $287.4 million decrease in the
“average balance of the portfolio primarily as a result of the loan swap transaction which took place at the end of fiscal
year 2006. The weighted average yield of the loan portfclio for fiscal year 2007 increased 13 basis points to 5.62%,
compared to 5.49% for fiscal year 2006, The increase in the yield was due primarily to fixed- and adjustable-rate
mortgage loans originated at rates generally higher than the average yield on the existing loan portfolio and existing
ARM loans in the portfolio repricing to higher rates.

Interest income on MBS in fiscal year 2007 was $68.8 million compared to $75.8 million in fiscal year 2006. The
$7.0 million decrease in interest income was a result of a $296.7 million decrease in the average balance of the
portfolio, which was partially offset by an increase in the weighted average yield of 30 basis points to 4.28% for fiscal
year 2007. The decrease in the average batance was due to maturities and principal repayments during fiscal year
2007. The weighted average vield increased during fiscal year 2007 primarily due to adjustable-rate securities in the
portfolio repricing to a higher rate, and partially due to the purchase of securities with weighted-average yields greater
than the existing portfolio. !




Interest income on investment securities in fiscal year 2007 was $30.8 million compared to $18.0 million in fiscal
year 2006. The $12.8 million increase in interest income was primarily a result of a $251.5 million increase in the
average balance of the portfalio and to a lesser extent, a 24 basis point increase in the weighted average yield to
4.70% for fiscal year 2007. The increase in the average balance was a result of the purchase of securities. The
funds to purchase the securities were pnmanly fram the proceeds from the sale of the trading securities in the first
quarter of fiscal year 2007. The increase in the weighted average yield of the portfolic was due to the purchase of
securities with weighted average ylelds higher than the remaining portfolic.

_ Interest income on cash and cash _equivalents in fiscal year 2007 was $7.2_million bbmpared to $3.3 milionin ___ _
fiscal year 2006. The $3.9 million increase in interest income was primarily a result of an increase in the average

balance and partially a result of an increase in the average yield. The average balance increased due to the timing of
the repayment of maturing FHLB advances. The increase in the average yield was due to an increase in short-term
interest rates between the two years.
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Interest expense on deposits in fiscal year 2007 was $147.3 million compared to $122.5 million in fiscal year
2006. The $24.8 million increase was primarily a result of an increase in the average rate on the certificate of deposit
and money market portfolios. The weighted average rate of the certificate of deposit portfolio for fiscal year 2007 was
4.58% compared to 3.86% for fiscal year 2006. The weighted average rate of the money market portfolio for fiscal
year 2007 was 3.29% compared to 2.66% for fiscal year 2008. The Bank increased certain deposit rates in response
to the general trend of increasing interest rates to remain competitive in its markets, which resulted in an increase in
the werghted average rate of the certificate of deposit and money market portfolios.

Interest expense on FHLB advances in fiscal year 2007 was $153.4 million compared to $157.2 million in fiscal -
year 2006. The $3.8 million decrease in interest expense was a result of a decrease in the average FHLB balance,
partlally offset by an increase in the paying rate on the interest rate swaps. The average balance of FHLB advances
decreased as a result of the repayment of $600.0 million of maturing FHLB advances during fiscal year 2007. The
weighted average paying rate on the variable-rate interest rate swaps was 7.83% for fiscal year 2007 compared to
7.22% for the prior fiscal year. The 61 basis point increase was due to the increase in the one month LIBOR rate
between the two periods.

Durlng fiscal year 2007, the Bank recorded a recovery for loan losses of $225 thousand compared to a provision
for loan losseés of $247 thousand in fiscal year 2006. The recovery for loan lgsses in fiscal year 2007 was a result of
adjusiments to the risk assessments of certain categories of loans to better reflect the inherent risk of those
categories. The adjustments to the risk assessments were based upon management's continuous evaluation of the
recent and hrstorrcal loss experience of our loan portfolio, underwriting standards, credit quality trends, trendls in
cotlateral values and economic and business conditions affecting our key lending areas.

Total other income decreased $829 thousand to $24.0 million during fiscal year 2007 compared to $24: 8 million
for fiscal year 2006. The decrease in other income was primarily due to a $1.1 miilion net gain on trading securities
recorded in fiscal year 2006 with no such similar transaction occurring in fiscal year 2007, and a decrease in retail
fees and charges of $887 thousand. The decreases were partially offset by a $691 thousand increase in ioan fees

and a $472 thousand other-than-temporary impairment on AFS securities in fiscal year 2006 with no such impairment -

amount recorded in fiscal year 2007. As previously indicated in our Form 10-K for the year ended Septembar 30,
2006, we discontinued collection of fees for transactions originated electronically following the Bank's core
information technology processing system replacement. Fees charged for the processing of insufficient fund (*NSF™)

_transactions decreased due to fewer incidents of NSF. Fees generally charged to our customers relating to their

usage of ATMs not owned by- the Bank-were not charged |mmed|ate|y following the core system replacement. In
addition, walved fees increased due primarily to fees assessed to customers which were waived immediately
following the'core system replacement as customers were beoommg accustomed to new interfaces. The waived fees
and ATM service charges which were not charged are expecled to be a one-time core system replacement-related
incident. Loan fees increased primarily as a result of an mcrease in service fees on sold ipans due to the servicing
nghts retained in the loan swap transaction. : -

| Totat other expenses increased $4.8 million to $77.7 mrllron during fiscal year 2007 compared to $72 9 million

* for fiscal year 2006. The increase was due primarily to a $1.8 million increase in regulatory and other services, a
$1.2 million mcrease in salaries and employee benefit expenses and a $710 thousand increase in office supplies and_

related expenses. The increase in regulatory and.other services was due primarily to an increase in.consulting. fees____ -

refated to compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (*“SOX 404") and other professional
services, as the Company's internal contro! environment had to be completely re-documented under the Bank’s new
core information technology processing systems. The $1.2 million increase in salaries and employee benefits was a
result of an increase in payroll expense and ralated taxes largely attributed to overtime paid following the core system
replacement for additional staffing required to address customer service issues, partially offset by capitalized payroil

" expense related to the core system replacement. The increase in office supplies and related expense was due

primarily to an increase in stationery and postage due to conversion-refated mailings and customer statement printing
changes related to the core system replacement

Income tax expense for fiscal year 2007 was $20.6 m|I||on compared to $30.6 million for fiscal year 2006. The
decrease was primarily a result of a decrease in eamings in fiscal year 2007 compared to fiscal year 2006. The
effective tax rate for fiscal year 2007 was 39.0% which was relativety unchanged from 38.9% in fiscal year 2006.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity management is both a daily and long-term function of our business management. The Bank's most
available liquid assets, represeénted by cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale mortgage-related and
investment securities, and short-term investment securities, are a product of its operating, investing and financing
activities. These marketable assets are all U.S. agency debt or pass-through securities maintaining the highest level

" of liquidity availablée in the market with substantial price stability. The Bank’s primary sources of funds are deposits,
" FHLB advances, other borrowmgs repayments on and maturities of outstanding loans and MBS, other short-term

investments, and funds provided from operations. While scheduled payments from the amartization of loans and
MBS and payments on short-term investments are relatively predictable sources of funds, deposit flows and
prepayments on loans and MBS are greatly influenced by general interest rates, economic conditions and
competition and are less predictable sources of funds. To the extent possible, the Bank manages the cash flows of
its loan and deposit portfolios by the rates it offers customers. Sources of funds are used primarily to meet ongoing
operations, to pay maturing certificates of deposit and savings withdrawals, and to fund loan commitments. At
September 30, 2008, $1.48 billion of the $2.52 billion in certificates of deposit were scheduled to mature within one .
year. Based on past expenence and our pricing strategy, we expect a majority of these maturlng deposits will renew,
although no assurance can be given in this regard. :

The Bank has paid competitive rates for its deposits while not “paying-up” in rates to grow its deposit base
beyond the Bank’s need for funding. The Bank’s borrowings have been primarily used to investin U.S. government
agency securities in order to safely improve the earnings of the Bank while maintaining its capital ratios in excess of
regulatory standards for well—capltallzed financial institutions. In addition, the Bank’s focus on managing risk has
provided it liquidity capacity by remaining below barrowing limits at FHLB and through the uncollateraiized balance of
its mortgage-related and investment securities available as collateral for borrowings. .

The Bank has used FHLB advances to provide funds for lending and investment activities. FHLB lending
guidélines set borrowing limits as part of their underwriting standards. At September 30, 2008, the Bank'’s ratio of the
face amount of advances to total assets, as reported to the OTS, was 30%. Our advances are secured by a blanket
pledge of our loan portfolio, as collateral, supported by quarterly reporting to FHLB. Advances in excess of 40% of -
total assets, but not exceeding 55% of total assets, may be approved by the president of FHLB based upon a review
of documentation supporting the use of the advances. Currently, the blanket pledge is sufficient collateral for the
FHLB advances. It is possible that increases in our borrowings or decreases in our loan portfolio could require the .
Bank to pledge securities as collateral on the FHLB advances. The Bank's policy allows borrowing from FHLB of up
to 55% of total assets. The Bank utilizes other sources for liquidity, such as secondary market repurchase ' )

" . ‘agreements and brokered deposits, but relies primarily on the FHLB advances.

During fiscal year 2008, the Bank entered into repurchase agreements lotaling $660.0 millicn, or 8% of total
assets. The agreements are treated as secured borrowings and are reported as a liability of the Companyona .
censolidated basis. The Bank has pledged securities with a market value of $742.7 million as collateral. At the
maturity date of these borrowings, the pledged securities will be delivered back to the Bank. The Bank may enter into
additicnal repurchase agreements as management deems appropriate. The Bank's policy allows for repurchase
agreements to total up to 15% of total assets.

In 2004, the Company issued $53.6 million in Junior Subordinated Deferrable interest Debentures

{“Debentures”) in connection with a trust preferred securities offéring. The Company received, net, $52.0 million from

the issuance of the Debentures and an investment of $1.6 million in Capitol Federal Financial Trust | {the “Trust").

The Company did not down-stream the proceeds to be used by the Bank for Tier 1 capital because the Bank already

exceeded all regulatory requirements to be a well-capitalized institution. Instead, the Company deposited the

proceeds into certificate accounts at the Bank to be used to further the Company's general corporate and capltal
management strategies which could include the paymenl of dividends.

At September 30, 2008, cash and cash equwalents totaled $87.1 million, a decrease of $75.7 million from
September 30, 2007. The decrease in cash was due to using funds to ariginate loans and purchase securities. Thé
Bank maintains access to additional liquidity through its management of the levet of borrowings from the FHLB and
counterparties of repurchase agreements through the availability of high quality collateral for borrowings. At
September 30, 2008, $1.57 billion of securities were eligible but unused for collateral. The Bank also has access to
the brokered deposit market and considers this source of funding along with other sources when evaluating fundmg
sources.

It is management’s and the board of directors’ intention to continue to pay regular quarterly dividends of $0.50
per share for the foreseeable future. MHC, which owns a majority of the outstanding shares of CFFN common stock,
generally waives its right to receive dividends paid on the common stock. At Septernber 30, 2008, Capitol Federal
Financial, at the holding company level, had $104.5 millicn in cash and certificates of deposit at the Bank to be used
to further the Company's general corporate and capital management strategies, which coutd include the payment of
dividends.




The long-term ability of the Company to pay dividends to its stockholders is based pﬁmarily upon the ability of
the Bank to make capital distributions to the Company. Under OTS safe harbor regulations, the Bank may distribute
to the Company capital not exceeding net income for the current calendar year and the prior two calendar years, Due

" to lower earnings in prior periods compared to the timing of dividend payments by the Bank' to the Company, the

during the current waiver 'period, which is expected. to expire on December 31, 2008, Currently, the Bank has__ _
authorization from the OTS to distribute capital from the Bank to the Company through the quarter ending June 30,
2009. So Iong as the Bank continues to maintain excess capital, operate in a safe and sound manner, and comply
with the mterest rate risk management guidelines of the OTS, it is management’s belief the Bank will continue to
recelve waivers, as necessary, aIIowmg it to distribute the net income of the Bank to the Company, although no
assurance can be given in this regard. .

On October 3, 2008, the EESA was signed into law. EESA authorizes the Treasury Department to purchase ' N
- from fi nanmal institutions and their holding companies up to $700.00 billion in mortgage loans, MBS and certain other

financial mstruments including debt and equity securities issued by financial institutions and their hoiding companies
ina Troubled Asset Relief Program ("TARP ). The purpose of TARP is to restore confidence and stability to the U.S. i
banking system and to encourage financial institutions to increase their lending to customers and to each other.- The !
Treasury Depariment has allocated $250.00 billion towards the TARP Capital Purchase Program {*CPP"}). Under the ,
CPP; Treasury will purchase debt or equity securities from participating institutions. Participants in the CPP are t
encouraged to expand their lending. Management believes the Company’s current capital position and souries of re
liquidity allow the Bank to continue to lend customers funds to purchase homes. Since expanding lending is the

primary purpose of CPP, management and the board of directors believe the Company is atready well positioned to r
meet the CPP's objective and have decided not to participate in the CPP. The other provisions in the EESA are not : '
expected to have a material impact on the Company's future financial position, results of operations, cash flows, or ‘ .
liquidity. ;

Off- Balance}Sheet Arrangements, Commitments and Contractual Obligations

The Company. in the normal course of business, makes commitments to buy or sell assets or to incur or fund -
|tab||ltles Commttments may include, but-are not limited to: :

the origination, purchase, or sale of loans; ' :

»

¢+ the purchase or sale of investments and MBS; : i
. extensions of credit on home equity loans and construction loans; -7 = T
+ terms and conditions of operating leases; and ' : : ' i
' funding withdrawals of certificate of deposits at maturity ‘ :

“In addition to its commitments of the types described above at September 30, 2008 the Company s off-balance :
sheet arrangements included its $1.6 million interest in the Trust, which in 2004 issued $52.0 million of variable rate
cumulative tmst preferred securities. tn connectlon therewith, the Company issued $53.6 million of Debentures to the
Trust _ . ,




The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and other material commitments as of Seplember
30, 2008. The actual maturity of the Debentures may differ from scheduled maturity as the Debentures are callable
at any time, in whole or in part, after April 7, 2009

e O --MaturltyRange‘.,- =
L Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
iy Total 1 year years years 5 years

(Dollars in thousands) : L
I

i Operating leases _ : $ 10452 % 1,057 & 1,644 $ 1,252 § ! 6,499
(3} . . ' R
" Certificates of Deposit $ 2,518,996 1,480,386 916,993 120,670 . 947
‘ Weighted average rate 3.91% 3.76% 4.19% - 3% 4.17%
¥ .
‘» FHLB Advances $ 2,446,000 620,000 1,201,000 625,000 . -
i Weighted average rate 477% 4.27% 5.46% 395% -%
. : L
L Repurchase Agreements $ 660,000 - 245,000 295,000 :1 20,000
o Weighted average rate 387% ~% 3.65% 4.12% v 4.24%
: . ]
v+ Debentures $ 53,581 - - - | 53,584
Weighted average rate . 5.54% % . -% % 5.54%
! . : .
s Commitments to originate and . ' . } . |
. purchase mortgage loans $ 269,240 269,240 - - ' -
, Weighted average rate 5.51% 551% -% =% } -% i
| : : ,
~+_ Commitments to fund unused home ; '
B equity lines of credit’ : $ 269,010 269,010 - - ; -
5 Weighted average rate - - . 5.68% 5.68% % % ! %

Unadvanced portion of ' ' .
construction loans _ $ 43,188 43,186 - - , A

. Excluded from the table above are income tax liabilities of $2.4 million related to FASB Interpretation No. 48
(“FIN 48"). The amounts are excluded as management is unable to estimate the period of cash settlement-as itis -._-
contingent on the statute of limitations expiring without examlnatnon by the respective taxing authority. ’

' A percentage of commitments to originate mortgage Joans are expected to expire unfunded, so the amounts :
; reflected in the table above are not necessarily indicative of future liquidity requirements. Additionally, the Bank is not
obligated to honor commitments to fund unused home equ1ty lines of credit if a customer is delinquent or ctherwise in

J violation of the loan agreement '.
i
We anticipate we will continue to have sufficient funds through repayments and maturities of loans and

securities, deposits and borrowings, to meet our current colmmltments ,

= " 7 In December 2003, management entered intorinterest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional amount
of $800.0 miltion to modify the Bank's interest rate risk proﬁle by hedging certain FHLB advances. In December
2007, management terminated interest rate swap agreeménts with an aggregate notional amount of $575.0 million
due to favorable economic market conditions. The interest rate swaps were scheduled to mature in fiscal year 2010.
The net position at the time of termination was a gain of $1.7 million which is being deferred and recorded as a yield
adjustment to the related advances over the remaining term to maturity of the advances. The termination of the
interest rate swap agreements improved the interest rate risk profile of the Bank by extending the effective repricing
frequency of the related advances from monthly to their stated maturity. The remaining interest rate swap agreement

matured in May 2008. in ) :




Contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company and its subsidiary are named defendants in various lawsuits and
counter claims. In the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, none of the currently pending
suits are expected to have a materially adverse effect on the Company s consolidated fi nanmal statements for the
year ended September 30, 2008 or future periods.

- . - f- .

Regulatory Capital

Consistent with management s goals to operate a sound and proﬂtable fi nanmal organlzatlon we actwely seek
to maintain a “well capitalized” status in accordance with regulatory standards. Total equity for the Bank was $6803.6
million at September 30, 2008, or 10.0% of total assets on that date. As of September 30, 2008, the Bank exceeded
all capital requirements of the OTS. The following table presents the Bank’s regulatory capital ratios at September
30, 2008 based upon regulatory guidelines.

Regulatory
Requirement
Bank For "Well
! Ratios Capitalized” Status
Core capital 10.0% 5.0%
Tier | risk-based capital 231 6.0
Total risk-based capital 23.0 10.0

Stockholder Return Performance Presentation

“The liné graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on the Company's common stock to the
cumulative total return of a broad index of the Nasdaq Stock Market and a Hemscott Group savings and loan industry
index (“S&L Index”) for the period September 30, 2003 through September 30, 2008, The information presented
below assumes $100 invested on September 30, 2003 in the Company's common stock and in each of the indices,
and assumes the reinvestment of all dividends. Historical stock price performance is not necessarily indicative of
future stock price performance.

COMPARE 5-YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
AMONG CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL, .-
NASDAQ MARKET INDEX AND HEMSCOTT GROUP INDEX :

DOLLARS

—+—CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL —&— 541 INDEX
— 4 = NASDAQ MARKET INDEX

T ASSUMES $100 INVESTED ON OCT. 1,2003__
ASSUMES DIVIDEND REINVESTED
FISCAL YEAR ENDING SEPT. 30, 2008

2003 2004 2005 2008 2007 2008

CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL 100.00 119.06 134.05 149.13 151.80 208.14
S&L INDEX 100.00 116.77 121.52 139.26 121.92 99.44

NASDAQ MARKET INDEX - 100.00 106.02 120.61 12777 152.68 118.28
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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING -
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Management.of the Company is.responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control aver-financial.

- raporting (as-defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15{e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the

“Act”). The Company's intenal control system is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance to the
Company's management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial
statements.

The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that pertain to the ,
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets;
provide reasonable assurances that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and ‘that
receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and the directors of
the Company; and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or untimely detection of unauthorized '
acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the Company's fi nancaal )
statements. )

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems
determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial reporting. Further, because
of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of any system of internal control may vary over time. The design of any
internal control system also factors in resource constraints and consideration for the benefit of the contro! relative to the
cost of implementing the control. Because of these inherent limitations in any system of internal control, management
cannot provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud within the Company have been
detected. :

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of September 30,
2008. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring |
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-integrated Framework. Management has concluded -
that the Company maintained an effective system of internal control over financial reporting based on these criteria as

_ of September 30, 2008.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, who audited the consolidated
financial statements included inthe Company's annual report, has issued an audit report on the Company's |nternal
control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2008 and it is included herein. '
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John B..Dicus, President ' ' . ,
and Chief Executive Officer ' ‘ : '

Kent G. Townsend, Executive Vice President




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Capito! Federal Financial and Subsidiary
Topeka, Kansas

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Capitol Federal Financial and Subsidiary
{the "Company"} as of September 30, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Because management's
assessment and our audit were conducted to meet the reporting requirements of Section 112.of the Federa! Deposit

" Insurance Corporation improvement-Act (FDICIA), management's-assessment-and our-audit-of the Company's—=- - ~— +- s
internal control over financial reporting included controls over the preparation of the schedules equivalent to the basic ;
financial statements in accordance with the instructions for the Consolidated Financiat Statements for Bank Holding !
Companies (Form FR Y-9C).  The Company's management is responsible for maintaining efféctive internal control li
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included !
in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to - i
express an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. . !

-
1
l

We conductéd our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 4
{United States) Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about !
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Cur audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We _
belie:ve that our audit provides a reascnable basis for our opinion. '

A company's internat control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and eflected by T
the company's board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the v,
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reascnable detail, accurately and fairly reflect

the transactions and drsposnt:ons of the assets of the company; (2} provide reasonable assurance that transactions. are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financiat statements in accordance with generally accepted accountlng .
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations o
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely ’
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or
improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be preventad or
detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal controt over
financial reporting to fulure periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of

. changes’in conditions, or that the degree’of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as ' v
of September 30, 2008 based on the criteria established in Internal Control — integrated Framework issued by the v
Comimittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comrmssuon '

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accountlng Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended September 30, 2008 of the Company and ~
our report dated November 26, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial slatemenls

- - - — - — e e e ae— e ——————— e e e

Kansas City, MISSOUI'I :
November 26, 2008 .




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of .
Capitol Federal Financial and Sub5|d|ary .
Topeka, Kansas )

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Capitol Federal Financiat and Subsidiary (the
“Company”) as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholders'
= equity; and'cash flows for each-of the'three'years-in the period -ended-September 30, 2008.- These financial -
= °7  statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.” Our responsibility is to express an oplnlon on these
L financial statements based on our audits. » ,
o |
K We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
: (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about’
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit aiso includes assessing the!
) accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fi nanCIaI
" slatement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. : '

In our opinion, such consclidated financial statements present fairly, in afl material respects, the financial position of
Capitol Federal Financial and Subsidiary as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2008, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. . i :

e ewm oy

r ]
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2008, based on the critéria !
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsering Orgamzatlons of the
Treadway Commission and our report dated November 26, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company S
internal control aver financial reporting. '

1

Il 5 ' b

 Deboitte & Toeche |

Kansas City, Missouri . , '
- November_i26, 2008

e e T T !
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CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2008 and 2007 (in thousands)

.- - Y . -

e am n om o ma— i e A m. w4 mm - )

2008 2007

ASSETS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3 87,138 § 182,791
]

INVESTMENT SECURITIES: :
Available—fgr-sale, at market (amortized cost of $51,700 and $102,331) 49586 - © - 102,424-
Held-to-maturity, at cost (market value of $92,211 and $418,940) 92,773 - 421,744

MORTGAGE-RELATED SECURITIES: ‘

Available-for-sale, at market value (amortized cost of $1,491,536
and $4oo§705) 1,484,055 402,686
Held-to-maturity, at cost (market value of $743,764 and $995,415) 750,284 1,011,585

LOANS RECEIVABLE HELD FOR SALE, at lower of amortized

cost or market 297 2,184
]

LOANS RECEIVABLE, net (less allowance for loan losses of _

$5,791 and1 $4,181) 5,320,780 5,290,071
' i

CAPITAL STOCK OF FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK (“FHLB"), at cost 124,406 139,661

ACCRUED fNTEREST RECEIVABLE.: .

Investment securities 1,890 7,368
Mopgage-rplated securities 10,909 6,787
Loans receivable , 20,905 : 21,714

PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, net 29,874 26,610

j “t"- "';' Tt R L .
REAL ESTATE OWNED, net h | 5,146 2,007
o | .
INCOME TAXES RECEIVABLE, net . i . -- . 6,620
i o
. ' |
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES, net : - 543
N
; L 't :
OTHERASSETS ! ., 76,506 71,001
TOTAL ASSETS ;

$ 8055249 8. 7675886

{Continued) .




CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

- - SEPTEMBER 30 2008 and 2007 (m thousands, except share amounts)

- - [ RN U

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

LIABILITIES:
Deposits .
- Advances from FHLB

. Other borrowings
] Advance payments by borrowers for taxes and insurance
Income taxes payable, net
' Deferred income taxes, net
' Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Total liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES {NOTE 14)

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:

) Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized,
' no shares issued or outstanding

N ~ Common stock, $.01 par value; 450,000,000 shares authorized,
to 91,512,287 shares issued; 74,079,868 and 74,258,977 shares

outstanding as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively
Additional paid-in capital '
Unearned compensation - Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP")
Unearned compensation - Recognition and Retention Plan (*RRP")
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) gain

. Treasury stock, 17,432, 419 and 17,253,310 shares as of
' September 30, 2008 and 2007, at cost

Total stockholders’ equity

e = e e o - e e o e e me = e = [

—— e — _—— ——

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

2008 2007
1 T
$ 3923883 § 3922782
2,447,129 2,732,183
713,581 53,524
53,213 51,109
6,554 ~ -
3,223 l =
36,450 - 48,657
7,184,033 6,808,255
i F
|
i f
; |
3 |
915 915
445,391 438,964
(10,082) _ (12,008)
(553) t (630)
759,375 750,186
(5,968) . 1,287
. teo- .- -
' ! ;
1,180,078 1178624
(317,862) .(310,993)
' |
871,216 ?867531
T Tl R
$ 8055249 $ 7675886

(Concluded) ;




CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 (in thousands, except per share amounts) -

. e e s .-, . 2008 2007 ... 2006... .
INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME e e mmm e e - - - S m e
Loans receivable $ 302020 3 ' 294744  $ 303,822 '
Mortgage-related securities 88,395 68,752 .75,806 b
Investment securities : 9917 ' 30849 18,047
Capital stock of FHLB N 6,921 10,017 9,913 ,
Cash and cash equivalents ) 3553 - 7,188 3,340
Total interest and dividend income 410,806 411,550 410,828 .
INTEREST EXPENSE: _
Deposits! : . 133,435 147,279 - 122,548
FHLB advances 125,748 153,363 - 157,197
Other bofrowings 17,455 4,468 4,160
Total interest expense 276,638 305,110 283,905
NET INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME - 134,168 106,440 127,023
PROVISION {RECOVERY) FOR LOAN LOSSES 2,051 {225) 247
NET INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME AFTER PROVISION : :
(RECOVERY) FOR LOAN LOSSES 132,117 106,665 126,776
OTHER INCOME: :
Retail fees and charges 17,805 16,120 17,007
Income from bank-owned life msurance ("BOLIM 2,323 27 -
Loan fees ‘ 2,325 2,467 1,776
Insurancé commissions ' 2,238 - 2059 .. 2320
Qains on securities and loans receivable, net | 829 75 653 .
Other, net - : 4.507 3,218 3,030
Totql other income 30,027 23,966 24,795
OTHER Eg(PENSES: .
Salaries and employee benefits 43,498 41,269 40,026
Occupancy of premises : 13,957 13,135 12,970
Regulatory.and outside.services. _ - . __. .. .. _ __ 5,457 7,078 . 5,241
Deposit and loan transaction costs ~ Tt T ol 5,240 4,709 4,332
Advertlsmg ! 4,925 4,317 4,038
Office supplles and related expenses ] 2,234 2,913 2,203
Federal insurance premium 4 735 480 533
Other, net ' I .5,943 3814 3,525
| Total other expenses i! 81,989 77,725 72,868
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE g " 80,155 52,906 78,703
INCOME TAX EXPENSE. . . ——d w2920, ... 20,610 . 30586 . :
NETINCOME —- - - - - ‘:L Iy Tt 50;954"*$"“‘32,296 . - A
.
Basic earnings per share . $ 0.70 % 044 3 0.66
Diluted earnings per share r $ 070 $- 044 % 0.66
Dividends declared per public share gi $ 200 % 2.09 $ 2.30
Basic weighted average common shares ' 72,938,871 72,849,095 72,594,798
72,970,388 72,853,691

]
Diluted weighted average common shares i
!

See nbtes to consolidated financial statements.

73,012,666

-

-
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CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL AND SUBSIDIARY :
- . [

. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS : :
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 (in thousands)

2008 - 2007 2006

—  —% = = = .e—- - - = = T v

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING’ ACTIVITIES‘ —— e me 4
| Net-income o T ”$"'50 954 $ 32.‘296 $ 48T

Adjuslments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

' FHLB stock dividends (6,921) (10,017) (9,913)
Provision (recovery) for loan losses 2,051, (225) 247
Onglnatlons of loans receivable held-for-sale {47,062) (4,062) (4,408)
Proceeds from sales of loans receivable held-for-sale - 48,444 3,405 4,907
Amomzatlon and accretion of premiums and discounts on mortgage- i .. .

related and investment securities 717 {(177) 6,889
Principal collected on trading securities - 7,729 —
Proceeds from sale of trading securities - 389,209 -
Deprecrauon and amortization of premises and equipment 5,428 4,510 3,845
Déferred gain on termination of interest rate swaps, net of amortization 1,129 - -
Common stock committed to be released for allocation - ESOP 7487 7,513 6,757
Stock based compensation - stock options and RRP 722 669 826
Pr:ovision for deferred income taxes 8,180 * 18,714 - 28,288
Other, net (1,271) (648) {1,167)
Changes in: .

Accrued interest receivable 2,165 2,163 (1.132)

Other assets : (4,871) 2.241 1,172

Income taxes payablelrecelvable 12,978 (1,239) (5.287)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,610 (5,367) 2,123

, Net cash provided by operating activities 81,720 446,714 81,264

3 f ‘

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: . )
Proceeds from maturities or calls of investment securities AFS 99,810 88,990 - 10,000
Purchases of investment securities AFS (49,248) - .. (1,520} _ (199,143} -
Proceeds from maturities or calls of investment securities HTM 514,208 511,500 190,510
Purchases of investment securities HTM (185,138)  (689,519) -
Principal collected on mortgage-related securities AFS 233,225 - 230,934 288,970
Purchases of mortgage-related securities AFS . (1,324,872) . (91,294) (110,123)
Proceeds from sale of mortgage-related securities AFS - 15,237 -
Principal collected on mortgage-retated securities HTM 266,853 256,083 275,385
Purchases of mortgage-related securities HTM ) (5,483) (136,798) (983)
Proceeds from the redemption of capital stock of FHLB 35,261 38,287 27,042
Purchases-of capital stock-of FHLB~ - o= (13,085) {2.801) -
Loan onglnatlons net of principal collected N (92,656) (144,710) (94,347)
Loan purchases, net of principal collected N " 51,872 71,399 (70,787)
Purchase of BOLI - - (50,000) -
Net deferred fee activity ' 195 574 299
Purchases of premises and equipment i . (8,721) (4,625) . (7,444}
Proceeds from sales of real estate owned 5 5,197 4 929 4,767

! Net calsh (used in) provided by investing activities . (472,582) 96,666 314,146
) H ' -
| ' ' (Continued) -

operating activities:

- e R - - e m e =

— - 4 e A e m . — e —m e e Res e
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CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS -

YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 (in thousands)

P PR S . - -

e = e ama e el a s e -

o CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Dividends paid
Dividends in excess of debt service cost of ESOP, net
Deposits, net of withdrawals
Proceeds from-advances/line of credit from FHLB
Repayments on advancesfiine of credit from FHLB
Proceeds from repurchase agreements
Change in advance payments by borrowers for taxes and insurance
Acquisitions of treasury stock
f Stock options exercised
Excess tax benefits from stock options

Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVAL.ENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of Period

End of Period

! SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Income tax payments, net of refunds

,' - - = —Interest payments; net of interest credited to deposits of $134,545

$143,383 and $112,386
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NONCASH INVESTING
AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Loans transferred to real estate owned

Loan swap with Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, net

Market value change related to fair value hedge: s T
! interest rate swaps hedging FHLB advances g
} N

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

-

e e 2008 - -

- 2007

| 2006

! l

(41,426) (43.000) ' (46.870)
' 670 .« (79)

1,101 22351 | (59,866)
834.700 206,901 1 675,100
(1.134700)  (756,901)  (829,100)
660,000 - -
2,104 2756 . 2916
(7,307) (3,198) ' (16,681)
623 3942 | 2279

114 2648 . 1567
315209 (563,831) _.(270.734)
(75,653) (20,451) ' 124,676
162,791 183,242 . 58,566
$ 87138 § 162,791 §$ ' 183242
$ 8050 § 711 $' 6,000
. | ;

$ 140,774 $ 163,158 $ 170,317
1| 1)

$ 8159 § 4,008 3 4.9
$- ~- % ~ $ 402,701
$ (13.817) $ (13,478) $f 3,760
(Concluded)




CAPITOL FEDERAL FINANCIAL AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FIMANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008 2007 and 2006

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES — ~ ~— " 7"~ """~ - ;' -
I

Descnptron of Business - Capltol Federal Financia! (the “Company”) provides a full range of retail banking
services through its wholly-owned subsrdrary, Capitol Federal Savings Bank (the “Bank") which has 30 traditional
and nine in-store banking offices serving primarily the entire metropolitan areas of Topeka, Wichita, Lawrence,
Manhattan, Emporia and Salina, Kansas and a portion of the metropolitan area of greater Kansas City. The Bank
emphasrzes mortgage lending, 'primarily originating and purchasing one- to four-family mortgage loans and
providing personal retail financial services. The Bank is subject to competition from other financial institutions. .
and other companies that provide financial services. The Company is subject to the regulations of the Office of Lt
Thrift Supervision ("OTS") and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC”) and undergoes periodic e
éxaminations by those regulatory authorities.

The Bank has an expense sharing agreement with the Company that covers the reimbursement of certain
expenses thal are allocable to the Company. These expenses include compensation, rent for leased office
$pace and general overhead expenses. ' 4

The Company’s ability to pay dividends is dependent, in part, upon its ability to obtain capital distributions from ‘
the Bank. The future dividend policy, of the Company is subject to the discretion of the board of directors and will -
depend upon a number of factors, including the Company's financial condition, results of operations, regulatory "y
capital reqmrements of the Bank, other regulatory limitations on the Bank's ability to make capital distributions to "
the Company and the continued waiver of dividends by Capitol Federal Savings Bank MHC ("MHC"). Holders of
common stock will be entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the board of directors of the
Company out of funds legally available for that purpose:

Basrs of Presentation - The Company is organized as a mid-tier holding company chartered as a fede-ral be
savings and loan holding company. The Company owns 100% of the stock of the Bank. The Company is ;
majonty owned by MHC, a federally chartered mutua! holding company. At September 30, 2008 MHC owned ‘
apprommatety 70% of the stock of the Company. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of -— ‘1.
the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, the Bank. The Bank has a wholly owned subsidiary, Capitol '
Funds, Inc Capitol Funds, Inc. has a wholly owned subsidiary, Capitol Federal Mortgage Reinsurance

Company All mtercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

These gonsolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP"), and require management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the s
reporting periods. Significant estimates include the allowance for loan losses, other-than-temporary deciines in i
the fair value of securities and financial instruments. Actual results could differ from those estimates. :

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and amounts due from banks.
The Bank has acknowledged informal agreements with other banks where it maintains deposits. Under these
agreements service fees charged to the Bank are waived provided certain average compensating balances are T
mamtatned throughout each month. Federal Reserve Board {*FRB") regulations require federally chartered
savings banks to maintain non-interest-earning cash reserves against their transaction accounts. Required:
reserves must be maintained in the form of vault cash, a non-interest-bearing account at a Federal Reserve
Bank, or a pass-through account as defined by the FRB. The Bank is in compliance with the FRB requirements. .
Effective October 9, 2008, as part of the Emergency Economic_Stabilization Act of 2008 {the “EESA’), the __hi,,_i ;
Federal-Reserve -Bank- may-pay-interest-on-balances- held at-the-Federal Reserve-Bank.to satisfy-reserve- ~ ———- i
requirements and on balances held in excess of required reserve bafances and clearing balances. - = -t

Securities - Securities include mortgage-related and agency securities issued primarily by United States
Government Sponsored Enterprises {("GSE”), United States Government agencies, including Federal Naticnal
Mortgage Association (“FNMA”), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (*FHLMC"), Government National -
Mortgage Association (*GNMA") and FHLB, and mummpal bonds. Securities are classified as held-tc-maturity,
available-for-sale, or trading based on management’s inténtion on the date of purchase. Generally,
classifications are made in response to liquidity needs, asset/liability management strategies, and ithe market
interest rate environment at the time of purchase. S

Securities that management has the intent and ability to hotd to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and
reported at amortized cost. Such securities are adjusted for amortization of premiums and discounts which are
recognized as adjustments to interest income over the life of the securities using the level-yield method.
i
.




¥
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Securities that management may sell if necessary for liquidity or asset management purposes are classified as
available-for-sale and reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income {loss} within stockholders’ equity, net of deferred income taxes.
Premiums and discounts are recognized as adjustments to interest income over the life of the securities using
the level-yield method. Gains or losses on the disposition of available-for-sale. securities are recognized using
the specific identification method. Estimated fair values of available-for-sale securities are based on one of three

-methods: 1) quoted market prices where available, 2) quoted market prices for similar instruments if quoted

market prices are not available, and 3) unobservable data that represents the Bank's assumptions about items
that market participants would consider in determining fair value where no market dala is available.

Securities that are purchased and held principally for resale in the near future are classified as trading securities
and are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses included in Gains on securities and loans
receivable, net in the consolidated statements of income.

The Bank regularly monitors its securities portfolio for impairment on a security by security basis. The Bank
considers many factoers in determining whether the impairment is deemed to be other-than-temporary, including,
but not limited to, the nature of the investment, the length of time the security has had a market value less than
the cost basis, the cause(s), severity of the loss, the intent and ability of the Bank to held the security for a period
of time sufficient for a substantial recovery of its investment, expectation of an anticipated recovery period, recent
events specific to the issuer or indusiry including the issuer's financial condition and current ability to make future
payments in a timely manner, external credit ratings and recent downgrades in such ratings. To the extent
management determines a decline in value of held-to-maturity or available-for-sale security to be other-than-
temporary, the Bank will adjust the carrying value and include such expense in Gains on securities and loans

" receivable, net in the consalidated statements of income.

On October 3, 2008, the EESA was signed into law. The EESA was a significant change in circumstances that

" occurred after September 30, 2008 and has not been considered in management's assessment of other-than-

temporary impairment as of September 30, 2008,

Loans Receivable Held for Sale - Management designates certain loans receivable as held for sale as
management does not intend to hold such loans to maturity or payoff. This decision is made prior to funding the
loan. Accordingly, such loans are carried at the lower of amortized cost {outstanding principal adjusted for
unamortized deferred loan fees, net of certain direct loan origination costs) or market value. Market values for
such loans are determined based on sales commitments or dealer quotations. Gains or losses on such sales are
recognized utilizing the specific identification method. Interest is included in interest income on loans receivable.

Loans Receivable - Loans receivable that management has the intent and. ability to hold for the foreseeable .
future are carried at the amount of unpaid principal, net of allowance for lcan losses, undisbursed loan funds,
unamortized premiums and discounts, and deferred loan origination fees and costs. Net loan crigination fees
and costs, premiums and discounts are amortized as a yield adjustment to interest income using the level-yield®
method, adjusted for estimated prepayment speeds of the related loans when applicable. Interest on loans is
credited to income as earmed and accrued only if deemed collectible,

A loan is considered delinquent when payment has not been received within 30 days of its contractual due date.
The accrual of income on loans is generally discontinued when interest or principal payments are 90 days in
arrears or when the timely collection of such income is doubtful. A loan is considered impaired when, based

‘upon current information and events, it'is probabie that the Bank will be unable to collect all amounts due,

including pnncnpai and interest, according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement Loans on which the
accrual of income has been discontinued are designated as non-accrual loans and outstanding interest
previousty credited beyond 90 days is reversed. Management considers all non-accrual loans to be impaired
loans. Interest income on impaired loans is recognized in the period collected unless the ultimate collection of
principal is considered doubtful. A non-accrual loan is returned to accrual status when factors indicating doubtful
collection no longer exist.




Allowance for Loan Losses - The allowance for loan losses represents management's bést éstimate of the
amount of known and inherent losses in the loan portfolio as of the balance sheet date. Management reviews
the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses based upon its evaluation of then-existing economic and
business conditions impacting the Bank’s key lending areas. Other conditions management considers in
determining the appropriateness of the allowance for loan losses include, but are not timited to, changes in the
Bank's underwriting standards, credit quality trends, trends in collateral values, loan volumes and concentrations,
and recent loss experience in particular segments of the portfolio as of the balance sheet date.

The allowance ‘for loan losses is ' comprised of both™ general valuation allowantces and specific valuation

" allowances. Management maintains the allowance for toan losses through provisions for loan losses that are
charged to income. Losses on loans are charged against the allowance for loan losses when the collection of
loan principal is unlikely. .

The Bank‘s primary lending emphasis is the origination and purchase of one- to four-family first mortgage loans
on re5|dent|a1 properties and, to a lesser extent, second mortgage loans on one- to four-family residential
properties resulting in a loan concentration in residential first mortgage loans. As a result of the Bank's lending
practices, the Bank also has a concentration of loans secured by real property located primarily in Kansas and -
Missouri, Based on the composition of the loan portfolio and the growth in the loan portfolio, management
believes the primary risks inherent in the loan portfolio are increases in interest rates, a decline in the economy,
employment conditions and a decline in real estate market values. Any one or a combination of these events
may adverseiy affect the loan portfolio resulllng in increased dehnquencnes charge-offs and future loan loss
provisions.

¢

Each quarter management prepares an analysis which categorizes the entire loan portfolio by certain risk
characteristics such as loan type (one- to four-family, multi-family, etc.), interest payments (fixed-rate, adjustable-
rate), loan source (originated or purchased), and payment status (i.e., current or number of days delinquent).
Management uses this analysis to evaluate the adequacy of the general valuation allowance. Loans with known
potential losses are excluded from the analysis and evaluated for specific valuation allowances. Potential loss
factors are assigned to each category in the analysis based on management's assessment of the potential risk
inherent in each category. These factors are periodically reviewed by management for appropriateness giving
consideration to historical loss experience, delinguency and non-performing loan trends, the results of foreclosed
property transactions, and the status of the local and national economies and housing markets, in arder to -
ascertain that the loss factors cover probable and estimable losses inherent in the loan portfolio.

| Loans in foreclosure and specifically identified problem loans are reviewed at least quarterly to determine if the

| foan is impaired and should have a specific valuation allowance established. Loans with an outstanding balance

| of $1.5 million or more are reviewed-annually if secured by property in one of the following categorieés: multi-"

| family (5 or more units) property, unimproved land, other improved commercial property, acquisition and
development of land projects, developed building lots, office building, single-use building, or retail building. The
primary considerations in establishing specific valuation allowances are the current estimated value of the loan's

| underlying collateral and the loan's payment history. If a lean is not impaired, the loan is |ncluded in the general

| valuation allowance analysis.

' : Assessing the adequacy of the allowance for loan fosses is inherently subjective. Actual results could differ from
' estimates as’a result of changes in economic or market conditions. Changes in estimates could result in a
material change in the-allowance forloan losses. " |n the opinion of management, the allowance for loan losses,
when taken as a whole, is adequate to absorb reasonable estimated losses inherent in the loan portfolio.
However, future adjustments may be necessary if portfolio performance or economic or market conditions differ
substantially from the conditions that existed at the time of the initial determinations.

Capital Stock of Federal Home Loan Bank - Capital Stock of FHLB Topeka is carried at cost. Dividends
received on such stock are reflected as interest and dividend income in the consolidated statements of incorne.

Premises and Equipment - Land is carried at cost. Buildings, leasehold improvements and fumniture, fixtures
and équipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and leasehold amortization. Buildings,
furniture, fixtures and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line or

accelerated method. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their estimated useful livesor- - .- —~

the term of the respective leases. The costs for major improvements and renovations are capitalized; while -
maintenance, repairs and-minor improvements are charged to operating expenses as incurred. Gains and
losses on dispositions are recorded as other income or other expense as incurred,

Real Estate Owned (“REQ”) - REO represents foreclosed assets held for sale and is initially recorded at the
lower of cost or fair value less estimated disposal costs. Adjustments for estimated losses are charged to
operations when any decline reduces the fair value to less than the carrying value. Costs and expenses related
to major additions and improvements are capitalized while maintenance and repairs which do not improve or
extend the lives of the respective assets are expensed. Gains;and losses on the sale of REC are recognized
upon disposition of the property. Periodically, the Bank will originate a loan for the purchase of an REQ property.
Gains on the sale under these circumstances are recognized to the extent allowable considering the adequacy of
the down payment and other requirements. Losses are recognized immediately.




'value of veste_d RRP shares

_ commltted to be released.. . . :

Income Taxes - The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for inconte taxes. Under this
method, deferred income-tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the tax consequences of temporary

- differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities.
* The provision for deferred income taxes represents the change in deferred income tax assets and liabilities

excluding.the tax effects of the change in net unreallzed galn (Ioss) on AFS securities and changes in the market

Deferred tax assets and |!abI|ItIeS are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable i income in
the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred.
tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the |

. enactment date. Certain tax benefits attributabie to stock options and restricted stock are credited to additional

paid-in capital. The Company will record a valuation allowance to reduce its deferred Income tax assets when
there is uncertainty regarding the ability to realize their benefit. -

" The Company adopted FASB Interpretation (“FIN") No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,an | '

Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" on October 1, 2007. FIN No. 48 clarifies the accounting for'
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with Statement of

. Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS”) No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" and prescribes a recognition

threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position’
taken, or expected to be taken, in a tax return. Accruals of interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits are recognized in income tax expense. +

Employee Stock Ownership Plan - The ESOP is accounted for in accardance with the Statement of Position
(“SOP™) 93-6, "Employer's Accounting for Employee Stock Ownership Plans.” The funds borrowed by the ESOP -
from the Company to purchase the Company’s common stock are being repaid from the Bank's contributions

and dividends paid on unaliocated ESOP shares. The shares pledged as collateral are reported as a reductlon
of stockhalders’ equity at cost. As ESOP shares are committed to be released from collateral each quarter the
Company records compensation.expense based on the average market price of the Company's stock during the
quarter. - Additionally, the shares become outstanding for earnings per share computatlons once they are

Stock-based Compensation - At September 30 2008 the Company had a Stock Option and Incentive Plan
(the “Option Plan”) and a2 RRP. SFAS No. 123(R) “Share-Based Payment” requires companies to recognize all
share-based payments which include stock options and restructured stock, in compensation expense over the

"-service period of the share-based payment award. SFAS No. 123(R) establishes fair value as the measurement

objective in accounting for share-based payment arrangements and requires all entities to apply a fair-value-
based measurement method in accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees, except for
equity instruments held by employee share ownership plans. :

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on October 1, 2005, using the medified prospective method in which
compensation caost is recognized over the service period for all awards granted subsequent to the Company's
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), as well as, for the unvested portion of shares outstanding as of the Company's
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). In accordance with the modified prospectlve method, results for prior penods
have not been restated. - X e e . . -

Borrowed Funds - The Bank enters into sales.of securities under agreements to repurchase with selected
brokers (“repurchase agreements”). These agreements aré recorded as financing transactions as the Bank
maintains effective control over the transferred securities. The doltar amount of the securities underlying the
agreements continues to be carried in the Bank’s securities portfolio. The obligations to repurchase the'securities
are reported as a liability in the consolidated balance sheet. The securities underlying the agreements are
delivered to the party with whom each transaction is éxecuted. They agree to resell to the Bank the same
securities at the maturity of the agreement. The Bank retains the right to substitute similar or like securities
throughout the terms of the agreements. The collateral is subject to valuation at current market levels and the

1

_ Bank’may ask for the'return of excess collateral or be reqmred to post addltlonal collateral due to, ‘market value’

changes

The Bank has also obtained advances from FHLB. FHLB advances are secured by certain qualifying mortgage
loans pursuant to a blanket collateral agreement with FHLB and all of the capital stock of FHLB owned by the
Bank. Per the FHLB lending guidelines, total FHLB borrowings cannot exceed 40% of total Bank assets without
pre-approval from the FHLB president. o,
The Bank is authorized to borrow from the Federal Reserve Bank’s “discount window.” Under the administration
of the discount window revised January 9, 2003, an eligible institution need not exhaust other sources of funds
before coming to the discount window, nor are there restrictions on the purposes for which the borrower can use
primary credit. The Bank had no cutstanding Federa|J Reserve Bank borrowings at September 30, 2008 or 2007.
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Derivative Instruments - The Bank uses derivative instruments as a means of managing interest rate risk.
Before entering into a derivative instrument, management formally documents its risk management objectives;,
strategy and the relationship between the hedging instruments and the hedged items. For those derivative
instruments that are designated and quallfy as hedging instruments, management designates the hedging
instrument as either a fair value or cash flow hedge, based upon the exposure being hedged, in accordance with
SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended. Both at the
inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, management evaluates the effectiveness of its hedging -
relationships in accordance with its risk management policy._

P - - Soe - e e e e =

Interest rate swaps are derivative instruments the Bank has used as part of its interest rate risk management

strategy. Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements between two parties to exchange interest payments;,

" based on a common notional amourit and maturity date. The interest rate swaps in effect as of September 30,
2007 and for'a portion of the year during fiscal year 2008 were designated and qualified as fair value hedges
under SFAS No. 133. The Bank assumed no ineffectiveness in the hedging relationship as all of the terms in the
interest rate swap agreements matched the terms of the FHLB advances. The Bank accounted for the interest
rate swaps agreements using the shortcut method, whereby any gain or loss in the fair value of the |nterest rclte

. swaps was offset by the gain or loss,on the hedged FHLB advances.

The Bank may enter into fixed commitments to originate and sell mortgage loans held for sale when the market
conditions are appropriate or for risk management purposes, such as instances where holding the loans would
increase interest rate or credit risk to levels above which management believes are appropriate for the Bank.

Pursuant to clarifying guidance, such commitments are considered derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133.
The standard requires the recognition of all derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and
measures those instruments at fair value. As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, there were no significant ioan-
related commitments that met the definition of derivatives or commitments to sell mortgage loans.

Comprehensive Income - Comprehensive income is comprised of net income and other comprehensive
income. Other comprehensive income includes changes in unrealized gains and losses on securities availabla
for sale, net of tax. Comprehensive income is presented in the consolidated statements of changes in
stockholders' equity. ' .

Segrment Information - SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”,
requires public companies to report certain financial information about significant revenue-producing segments of
the business for which such information is available and utilized by the chief operating decision maker. As a
community-oriented financial institution, substantially all of the Bank’s operations involve the delivery of loan and
deposit products to customers. Management makes operating decisions and assesses performance based-on an
ongoing review of these communlty banking operations, which constltute our only operating segment for finarcial
reportmg purposes

[Earnings Per Share (“EPS”) - Basic EPS is computed by dividing i income available to common stockholders by
the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution
that could oc:cur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock (such as stock options) were exercised or
resulted in the issuance of common stock. These potentially dilutive shares would then be included in the
weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period using the treasury stock method. Shares issued
and shares.reacquired during-any period are weighted.for the portion of the period that they were outstanding.

_ In computing both basic and diluted EPS, the weighted average number of common shares outstanding includes
the ESOP shares previously allocated to participants and shares committed to be released for allocation to
participants and the RRP shares which have vested or have been allocated to participants. ESOP and RRP
shares that have not been committed to be released or have. not vested are excluded from the computation of

. basic and diluted EPS.

Recent Accountlng Pronouncements - In September 2008, FASB issued SFAS No. 157 "Fair Value
Measurements.” SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes:a framework for measuring fair value, and
expands disclosures regarding fair value measurements. The statement applies whenever other standards

require or permit that assets or liabilities’be measured at fair valte.” The statefnent does not requiré riew fair ___ .

. value measurements; but rather provides a definition and framéework for measuring fair value which will result in
greater consistency and comparability among financial statements prepared under GAAP. The statement is
effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, which for the

. Company is October 1, 2008. The provisions are to be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal
year in which the statement is initially applied, with certain exceptions. A transition adjustment, measured as the
difference between the carrying amounts and the fair values of certain specific financial instruments at the date
SFAS No. 157 is initially applied may be required. SFAS No. 157 will affect certain fair value disclosures, but is
not expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial condition or results of operations. The

_ portion of the Company s assets and liabilities with fair values based on unobservable inputs is not significant.

in February 2007, FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities” which permits an entity o measure certain financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value. The
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objective of SFAS No. 159 is to improve financial reporting by allowing entities to mitigate volatility in reported
earnings caused by the measurement of related assets and liabilities using different attributes, without having to
apply complex hedge accounting provisions. The election for the fair value option is a one-time election for
existing instruments and once fair value is elected for a particular instrument, that instrument is carried
throughout the holding period at fair value. If elected, SFAS No. 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
. "November 15, 2007, which for the Company is"October 1, 2008. "The Company has elected not to use the fair -
17777 T valueoption” - '

; In November 2007, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB")
. 109, “Written Loan Commitments Recorded at Fair Value Through Eamings.” SAB 109 supersedes SAB 105,
w “Miscetlaneous Acccmnt:ng Loan Commitments Accounted for as Derivative Instruments.” SAB 109 requires a
E company to include the value of the mortgage servicing right asset in the estimated fair value of the
commitments on loans to be sold. SAB 105 had stated that this treatment was inappropriate. The new guidance
should be applied prospectively to commitments accounted for at fair value that are issued or modified in fiscal !
quarters beginning after December 15, 2007, which for the Company was January 1, 2008. The adoption of SAB
109 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. : J

In December 2007, the SEC codified SAB 110 as part of SAB Topic 14.D.2, “Share-Based Payment Certaln '
Assumptions Used in Valuation Methods — Expected Term.” SAB 110 permits companies, under certaln !
circumstances, to continue to use the simplified method when calculating the expected term of “plain vamlla
share options. Originally, the simplified method was due to expire on December 31, 2007. A company may use
. the simplified method if it concludes that it is not reasonable to base its estimate of expected term on its \

experience with exercising historical share options. SAB 110 was effective for the Company on January 1, 2008

Management determined there was sufficient history of stock option exercises to develop an expected term .
. based on historical experience so the simplified method will no longer be used to calculate expected term when

stock options are granted. The adoption of SAB 110 did not have a material impact on the Company's f nancial
! statements. 1

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No: 141(R) “Business Combinations” and SFAS No. 160. ! ;
“Noncontrolling nterests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB No. 51." These '
statements change the way companies account for business combinations and noncontrolling interests {minority
interests in current GAAP) and continue the FASB's push toward more fair value reporting in financial 1
statements. These Statements should both be applied prospectively for fiscal years beginning on or after

- December 15, 2008, which for the Company is October 1, 2009. However, SFAS No. 160 requires entities to
apply the presentation and disclosure requirements retrospectively to comparative financial statements,.if '
presented. Both Statements prohibit early adoption. The Company's adoption of SFAS No. 141(R) and No. 160
are not expected to have a material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161 "Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedgmg

Activities — an amendment of FAS 133". SFAS 161 requires an entity with derivatives to describe how and why!it

| uses derivative instruments, how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS
133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” and related interpretations, and how' :

. * derivative instruments and related hedged items affect the entity's financial position, financial performance, and'

) cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2009. The Company's adoptron of -
SFAS No. 161 is not expected to have a material impact on its financial conditicn or results of operatlons :

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 162 “The H:erarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Pnnc:ples" The
purpose of SFAS No. 162 is to improve financial reporting by providing a consistent framework for determmlng !
what accounting principles should be applied when preparing GAAP financial statements. The FASB beheves

) that issuing the GAAP hierarchy as a FASB standard, recategorizing the existing GAAP hierarchy into two fevels
‘ of accounting literature (authoritative and nonauthoritative), and elevating the conceptual framework W|th|n the .
GAAP hierarchy are key objectives of achieving the FASBE's goal of improving the quality of accounting standards
and the standard settmg process.. SFAS No. 1621 is effectwe 60 days foIIowmg the SEC's approval of Pubhc

SFAS 162 No. is not expected to have a material |mpa‘ct on its financial condltron results of operations cash
" flows or financial statement disclosures. v

In June 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position ("FSP") iEmerging Issues Task Force ("EITF") 03-6-1, “Determining
~ Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions are Participating Securities,” which
addresses whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities prior to
vesting and, therefore, need to be included in the earnings allocation in computing EPS under the two-class
method described in SFAS No. 128, “Earnings per Share.” EITF 03-6-1 states that unvested share-based
payment awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents are participating securities
and shall be included in the computation of EPS pursuant to the two-class method. EITF 03-6-1 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and iriterim periods within those years, which for the Company
is October 1, 2009. Early application is prohibited. The Company has not yet completed its assessment of the
|mpact of EITF 03-6-1. ; |




EARNINGS PER SHARE
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The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominatofs of the basic and diluted EPS calculations.

)

2008" ~2007%? 2006®
. (Doltars in thousands, except per share amc:unts)

. s L e Ak . e W . —m . aa e m e .-

e e A o o Chme o —— -

Net income . ' "5 50954 § 32296 § 48117
‘ } ] . ) .

[} ' ' f
Average, common ‘shares outstanding X 72,862,705 . 72,772,859 72,518,562.
Average| commltted ESOP shares outstanding = . .. 76,166 76,236 - 76,236

I . . ‘. i . ' ! ! ‘ . )

! Total basic average common shares outstandlng © - 72,938,871 72,849,095 = 72,594,798 -
Effect of;dimtive RRP shares _ C 5,460 5902 . 3,648
Effect of dilutive stock options . : ~ 68,335 115,391 255,245

1 ’ . )

Totat dirLIJted average common shares outstanding 73,012,666 - 72,970,388 72,853,691

Net EPSl . - ‘

. Basic® - : $- 070§ 044 $ 066
Dilutgid _ : i . _§ 070 $ 044 $ 066

(1) - Optlons to purchase 31,100 ‘'shares of common stock at a price of $38.77 per share were outstanding as of September 30,

2008 but were not included in the compulahon of diluted EPS because ' they were anti-dilutive for the year ended
September 30, 2008.

Options to purchase 31, 500 shares of common stock at a price-of $38. 77 per share were outstanding as of September 30
2007 but were not included in the computation of dlluted EPS because they were anti-dilutive for the year ended - _ -
September 30, 2007 ' o

Ophons to purchase 247 000 shares of commoh stock at prlces between $32.48 per share ‘and $36.19 per share were
outstanding as of September 30, 2006 but were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because they were anti-
dilutive for the year ended September 30, 2006. _ .
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INVESTMENT SECURITIES

The following tables reflect the amortized cost, estimated market value, and gross unrealized gains and losses of
available-for-sale and held-to-maturity investment securities at September 30, 2008 and 2007,

Available-for-sale:
FNMA
FHLB
Municipal bonds
Trust preferred securities

Held-to-lmaturity: e
FHLMC
Municipal bonds

" Available-for-sale:

FNMA

FHLMC

FHLB
Municipal bonds

Held-to-maturity:
FNMA
FHLMC
FHLB
Municipal bonds

- - P

September 30, 2008

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized  Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
{Dollars in thousands)
$ 25135 % - 3 601 $ 24,534
20,020 -- 366 19,654
2,686 61 4 2,743
3,85¢ - 1,204 2,655
$ 51,700 § 61 $ 2175 $ 49,586
$ 37,397 § 19 $ 647 § 36,769
55,376 408 342 55,442
$ 92773 % 427 $ 989 § 92,211
September 30, 2007
Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost - Gains Losses Value
(Dollars in thousands} ' '
$ 22423 § 35 $ - % 22,458
57,229 39 . - 57,268
19,975 4 -- 19,979
2,704 19 4 2,719
$ 102,331 § 97 $ 4 $ 102424
$ 194988 $ 36 $ 2021 $ 193,003
86,673 - . 84 699 86,058
119,770 19 252 119,537
20,313 83 54 20,342 -
$ 421,744 $ 222 $ 3,026 $§ 418,940




The following tables summarize the estimated market value and gross unrealized losses of those investment
securities on which an unrealized loss at September 30, 2008 and 2007 was reported and the continuous
unrealized loss position for the twelve months prior to September 30, 2008 and 2007 or for a shorter period of
time.

September 30, 2008

s ~Less Than 12 Months -~ - 12 Months or Longer - -_Total -
7 Estimated  Gross  Estimated = Gross - Estimated Gross =
Market Unrealized Market Unrealized Market Unrealized .
Value Losses Value’ Losses Value Losses |

! ) (Dollars in thousands) ’
Available-for;sale: : : oo

FNMA . $ 24534 $ 601 § -3 ~ $ 24534 § 601 S
FHLB | 19,655 366 - - 19,655 366 -
Municipal bonds 491 4 - - 491 4 i
Trust preferred securities 2,655 1,204 - — 2,655 1,204 f

! . $ 47335 § 2175 § ~ $ ~ $ 47335 $ 2175 -

} ‘
Held:te-maturity: ‘ '

| FHLMC - $ 24353. % 647 $ . - 3 —- $ 24353 % 647 b
| Murjicipal bonds 24,522 342 - 24 522 342 .
' $ 48,875 § 989 § - 3 — $ 48875 § 989 :

September 30, 2007 : T

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total

Estimated Gross  Estimated Gross,  Estimated Gross !
‘ Market Unrealized Market Unrealized Market  Unrealized | '
' Value . Losses Value Losses Value Lgsses_ Lo

(Dollars in thousands)
Available-for-sale:

Municipat bonds 3 531 % 4 8 - §$ -3 531 § 4 '
| . ' : -
| Held-to-maturity; ' .
| FNMA $ - $ ~ § 147980. 8 2021 $ 147,980 § 2,021 . .
FHLMC | 3,961 6 64,306 693 68,267 699 \
FHLB - T T 24,748 252 24,748 252
Municipal bonds , 6,441 54 - ~ 6441 54
: ' 5 10402 8 - 60 $ 237,034 $ 2966 $ 247436 §$ 3,026

* At September 30, 2008 and 2007, there were no securities and six securities, respectively, in a continuous
unrealtzed loss position for more than 12 months. The unrealized losses are primarily a result of increases in .
interest rates from the time of purchase. -In general, as interest rates rise, the fair value of fixed-rate securities !
will decrease; as interest rates fall, the fair value of fixed-rate $ecurities will increase. Managementgenerally ___ ~ _ __ '
views.changes.in fair-value caused by changes.in-interest rates as temporary;-therefore, these. securities have- - - . -« — -

. not been classified as other-than-temporarily impaired. Additionally, the impairment is also considered - T

- temporary because scheduled coupon payments have been made, it is anticipated that the entire principa!
balance will be collected as scheduled, and management has the positive intent and ability to hold these
securities to maturity or for a sufficient amount of time to recover the recorded principal. In addition,
management has primarily purchased securities issued by U.S. Government sponsored enterprises or agencies.




The amortized cost and estimated market value of the investment securities by remaining contractual maturity,
without consideration of call features or pre-refunding dates, as of September 30, 2008 are as follows:

Available-for-Sale - Held-to-Maturity Total
. _ ) R B . ~ Estimated ) _ Estimated Estimated
- ; _ ._Amortized _ Market_ _.Amortized . Market _Amortized Market.

' Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value
{Dollars in thousands) '

One year or less | $ - 8 - 8 12,582 $ 12,603 § 12,582 $ 12,603

One year through five years 45,534 44,575 6,312 6,408 51,846 50,983
Five years through ten years 1,131 1,131 32,558 32,373 33,689 . 33,504
Ten years and thereafter 5,035 3,880 41,321 40,827 46,356 44,707

$ 51,700 § 49586 § 92773 § 92211 $144,473 $141,797

Issuers of certain securities have the right to call obligations with or without prepayment penalties. As of
September 30, 2008, the amortized cost of the securities in our portfolio which are callable or have pre-refunding
dates within one year totaled $72.3 million.

All dispositicns of investment securities during 2008, 2007, and 2006 were the result of maturities or calls.




MORTGAGE-RELATED SECURITIES

.

The following tables reflect the amortized cost, estimated market value, and gross unrealized gains and losses of
available-for-sale and held-to-maturity mortgage-refated securities at September 30, 2008 and 2007.

September 30, 2008

$ - 1,930 ¢

i - ‘ .- Gross -Gross - Estimated
T 77 T"Amortized™ " “Unrealized” © Unrealized "~ ~:Market"
! Cost Gains Losses Value
: . (Doltars in thausands)
Available-for-sale: .
FNMA ' $ 795,836 §$ 1,047 § 5792 $ 791,091
,FHLMC 688,806 ' 2,893 5378 686,321 -
"‘Other ' 6,804 . - 251 6,643
" ' .- 8 1,491,536 $% 3940 § 11421 % 1,484,055
; -
Held-to-maturity: - . ‘
FNMA - - 359,134 § 1169 § 3212 % 357,001
'FHLMC 387,614 781 5413 382,982
GNMA 3,536 . 155 - 3,691 .
$ 750,284 § 2,105 § - 8,625 § 743,764
September 30, 2007
4 Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
v (Dollars in thousands)
Available-for-sale: i
" FNMA $ 182,632 & 915 § 1,000 § 182,538
FHLMC 210,367 2,369 356 212,380
‘Other 7,706 62 - 7,768
' $ 400,705 § 3346 % 1,365 % 402,686
Held-to-maturity: .
\FNMA . $ 469853 $§  .895 § 7435 § 463,313
‘FHLMC ~ . 537476, ~ .7 7913 " - 10665 527,724
'GNMA 4,256 122 ! 4,378 -
| b $ 1011585 18,100 § = 995415

. - —- - - -




The following tables summarize the estimated market value and gross unrealized losses of those securities on
which an unrealized foss at September 30, 2008 and 2007 was reported and the continuous unrealized loss
position for the twelve months prior to September 30, 2008 and 2007 or for a shorter period of time.

L. : September 30, 2008
il Less Than 12 Months- 12 Months orLonger-- . - - - - - Total

!

f Estimated Gross Estimated Gross Estimated Gross E

Market Unrealized Market Unrealized Market Unreafized !
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

O

{Dollars in thousands)
Available-for-sale; ‘
FNMA $ 491514 $ 4908 § 36,047 § 884 $ 527561 $ 5,792

FHLMC ~ - 458,810 5,032 15,468 346 474,278 5,378
Other 6,644 251 — - 6,644 251

$ 956968 $ 10191 $ 51,515 § 1230 §$ 1008483 § 11,421

Held-to-méturity:. ’ ‘ ! -
FNMA ' $ 198940 $ 2110 $§ 49035 § 1,102 § 247975 $§ 3212

FHLMC 218,460 2,894 117,772 2,519 336,232 5413 |
' $ 417400 $ 5004 § 166807 % 3621 § 584207 § 8,625
September 30, 2007 . .
Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Longer Total )
Estimated Gross Estimated Gross  Estimated Gross
Market Unrealized Market Unrealized Market Unrealized
Value - Losses Value Losses - Value Losses
{Daliars in thousands) ‘ ’ '
Available-for-sale: - . .
ENMA ' $ 29654 % 104 § 76,177 § 905 $ 105831 § 1,008 .
FHLMC - 9,813 46 30,312 310 40,125 « 356

$ 39467 $ 150 $ 106489 $ 1,215 $ 145956 $ 1,365

‘Held-to-maturity: , ‘ L
FNMA - $ 33920 $§ 196 $ 309506 $ 7239 $ 343426 § 7435 .
FHLMC 3,200 3 424,831 10,662 428,031 10,665

'$ 37,120 - § 199 § 734337 § 17.801--$- 771457 $ 18100-- -2 -

At September 30, 2008 and 2007, a total of 93 securities and 112 securities, respectively, were in a continuous
unrealized loss position for more than 12 months. The unrealized losses are primarily a result of an increase in
yields on similar assets since the time of purchase. These securities have not been classified as other-than-
temporarily impaired, except as noted below, as the scheduled principal and interest payments have been made,
it is anticipated that the entire principal balance will be collected as scheduted, management believes the price:
variation is temporary in nature and management has the positive intent and ability to hold these securities to
maturity or for a sufficient amount of time to recover the recorded principat. In addition, the Bank primarily
purchases mortgage-related securities issued-by U:S. Government sponsored enterprises or agencies.

+




During management's review of the available-for-sale portfolio for the year ended September 30, 20086, securities
were identified that management did not have the intent to hotd until maturity or recovery of recorded principal

“ primarily because their performance was below expectations set by the Bank's Asset and Liability Commiittee.

As a result of management’s decision to sell the securities, an other-than-temporary impairment of $472
thousand was recorded during the year ended September 30, 2006. The other-than-temporary impairment is
fncluded in Gains on securities and loans receivable, net in the consolidated statements of income. During fiscal
year 2007, the aforementioned securities were sold, resulting in proceeds of $15.2 million, and a gross loss of.

$47 thousand.. The gross.loss.is included. in.Gains on securities.and loans receivable, net.in the consolidated. _. ... .

statements of income. There were no other-than-temporary impairments recorded for the years ended
September 30, 2008 and 2007.

The amortlzed cost and estimated market value of mortgage-related securities by remalmng contractual maturity
as of September 30, 2008 are as follows:

Available-for-Saie Held-to-Maturity Total
Estimated Estimated Estimated *
‘ ; Amortized Market  Amortized Market Amortized Market
! ' ‘Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value

{Dollars in thousands)

One year or less ' $ 1,095 § 1,098 - % - $ 1,095 $ 1,109

Five years through ten years 39,853 40,102 187,807 186,292 227,660 225,394
Ten years and thereafter 1,450,588 1,442 844 562,477 568,472 2,013,065 _ 2,001,316

! _ $ 1.491,536 $ 1,484,055 $ 750,284 $ 743,764 $2,241,820 § 2,227,819

t b
Actual maturities of mortgage-related securities may differ from contractual maturities as borrowers have the

right to prepay certain obligations, sometimes without penalties. Maturities of mortgage-related securities depend
6n the repayment characteristics and experience of the underlying financial instruments.

As of September 30, 2008, the Bank had pledged mortgage-related securities available-for-sale and held-to-
maturity as collateral with an amortized cost of $803.8 million and an estimated market value of $800.9 millicn to
the repurchase agreement counterparties, the Federal Reserve Bank, and the FHLB.

During the year ended September 30, 2007, proceeds from the sale of securities from the- trading-portfolio-totaled
$389.2 miliion resultlng in gross realized gains of $2.8 miltion and gross realized losses of $1.7 million. The
gross realized gains and losses are included in Gains on securities and loans receivable, net in the consolidated
statements of income. All dispositions of mortgage-related securities during 2008 and 2006 were the result of
principal repayments or maturities. '

LOANS RECEIVABLE, Net

LTI : LTl . 2008 . 2007
‘ {Dollars in thousands)

,Mortgage loans:’

Residéntial - one- to four-units § 5,026,358 $ 4,992,398
, Multi-family and commercial ‘ 56,081 60,625
. Consti:'uction and development : . 85,178 74,521
. _ 5,167,617 5,127,544
Other loans: ! :
Home equity,-auto.and-other— - . - - - —— . . . . - . . 207,594 - - 213,833 -—- -
Deposits E Y ¥ < - T - 52497 T
212,228 219,082
Less: ! , _
Undisbursed loan funds . 43,186 42,481
Allowance for loan losses 5,791 4,181
Uneamed loan fees and deferred costs . ‘ 10,088 ' 9,893
Loans receivable, net $ 5320,780 § 5,290,071

The Bank originated $975 thousand, $16.7 million, and $3.1 million of commercial real estate and business loans
during the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively.

hd |




The Bank is subject to numerous lending-related regulations. Under the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery,
and Enforcement Act, the Bank may not make real estate loans to one borrower in excess of the greater of 15%
of its unimpaired capital and surplus or $500 thousand. As of September 30, 2008, the Bank was in compliance
with this limitation.

Aggregate-loans to-executive officers, directors and their-associates did not exceed 5% of-stockholders’-equity as

‘of-September 30; 2008-and 2007. ‘Such loans were made under terms and-conditions substantially the same as

loans made to parties not affiliated with the Bank.

As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Bank serviced loans for others aggregating approximately $623.0 |
million and $674.8 million, respectively. Such loans are not included in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets. Servicing loans for others generally consists of collecting mortgage payments, maintaining escrow
accounts, disbursing payments to investors and foreclosure processing. Loan servicing income includes
servicing fees withheld from investors and certain charges collected from borrowers, such as late payment fees.
The Bank held borrowers’ escrow balances on loans serviced for others of $8.4 million and $9.2 million'as of
September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

A summary of the activity in the allowance for loan losses is as follows:

2008 2007 2006 |
{Dollars in thousands) ! ‘
Balance, beginning of year $ 4181 3% 4433 $ 4,598
Provision (recovery) charged to expense 2,051 (225) 247 ‘
Losses charged against the allowance for loan losses (441) (27) (132)
Recoveries of loans previously charged against the . ! '
allowance for loan losses - - 1. '
Allowance on loans in the loan swap iransaction : - - (281}
Balance, end of year $ 579185 4181 § 4433

. ‘ (
The following is a summary of information pertaining to impaired loans. Certain 2007 and 2006 impaired
loan amounts have been adjusted for minor corrections.

- R . : ' 2008 2007
: {Dollars in thousands)
Impaired loans without a specific valuation allowance $ 7646 52923

Impaired loans with a specific valuation allowance 6,020 4,429

| $ 13666 $7352 : ;

Specific valuation allowance related to impaired loans $ 758 §$ 138 .
- 2008 2007 2006
| {Dollars in thousands) ' '
Average investment in impaired loans ' $ 10878 $6,606 $8,839
Interest income recognized on impaired loans ' $ 150 § 111 $ 86

No additional principal is committed to be advanced in connection with impaired loans.

The’Bank did not have significant troubled debt restructurings during fiscal years 2008, 2007 or 2006

As of September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006, loans tolallng approximately $13.7 million, $7.4 million, and $5.6
million, respectively, were on nonaccrual status. Gross interest income would have increased by $178 thousand,
$101 thousand, and $118 thousand for the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007, and 20086, respectively, if
these nonaccrual status loans were not classified as such.

The decline in the real estate markets, as well as the éverall economic environment, contributed to an increase in
the balance of nonaccrual loans at September 30, 2008 compared to September 30, 2007 and 2006. Due to the
Bank’s levei of geographic diversification, the Bank is sheltered but not immune to negative consequences
arising from overall economic weakness and, in particular, a sharp downturn in the housing industry nationally.
Despite the increase in the balance of nonaccrual loaiis, the Bank's balance of nonaccrual loans continue to
remain at low levels relative to the size of the Bank’s Ioan portfélio.

i




PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, Net ' , ‘

2008

2007

{Dollars in thousands)

Land e . o8 7618 ‘$ 7,166 =
Building and Improvemen,ts R X AR £
Fumlture fixtures and equipment 32419, 30,155
71,064 "~ 64,651
Iress accumulated depreciation - : (41 190) (38,041)
¢ : ) ' .
' i . .3 29,874 § 26610

*

' Deprematlon and amortization expense for.the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $5.4

ml!llon $4 5 million and $3.8 million, respectively.

The Bank has entered into non- cancelab!e operatlng lease agreements with respect to banking premises and
equ:pment It is expected that many agreements will be renewed at expiration in the normal course of business.
Rental expense was $1.2 million, $1.1 million and $1.0 million for the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007,
and 2006, respectively. Future minimum rental commitments, rounded to the nearest thousand, required under
operatlng leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable Iease terms in excess of one year are as follows

{dollars in thousands}:

2009 ! ' ' $ 1,057
2010 . : 890
2011 | 754
2012 . 671
2013 | 581
Thereafter : 6,499

! : $ 10,452

———
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7. DEPOSITS '

2008

2007 -

B

Non-certificates:
Checking

- Savings
Money market

Total non-certificates™ - '

Centificates of deposit;

0.00 — 0.99%
1.00 - 1.99%
2.00 - 2.99%
3.00 - 3.99%
4.00 — 4.99%
5.00 — 5.99%
6.00 - 6.99%

Total certificates of de'posit

2009
2010 .
2011 ,
2012 T
2013

Thereafter

The amount of nonlnterest -bearing deposits was $66 8 million and $65.6 million as of September 30, 2008 and

i

v

v

i
i
i

o Weighted Weighted
T T AVerage %D 1. T Averags T %of |
Amount Rate Total - Amount - Rate Total
- {Dollars in thousands) ' T .
A ‘ N
$ 400,461 0.21% 10.21% $ 394109 0.21% 1‘0.05% .
232,103, ©  1.51 5.91 237,148 258  6.04
772,323 1.48 19.68 790,277 3.18 20.15
1,404,887. 112 .3580 1,421,534 226 36.24
oo
114 0.59 -- 134 0.65 { -
7426 198 049 - - -
_413;102 278 10.53 35,815 292 ‘0.91 :
935,470 339 2384 - 225,162 3.50 ’;5.74 :
‘747,612 452 19.06 746,707 446  19.04
414347 517  10.56 1489706 516 . 37.98 .
925 6.47 0.02 3,724 663 1009
2,5618996. 3.91 6420 ° 2,501,248 477 8376
$ 3,923,883 12.91% 100.00% $ 3,922,782 3.86% 1(;0.00% .
‘ +
As of Sepiember 30, 2008, certificates of deposit mature as follows: l v
Weighted I
Average i '
Amount Rate - 1 .
{Dollars in thousands) T '
$ 1,480,386 3.76% | ?
.631,061 426 : .
285932 4.02 o
_99 392 —t  B389-as ——m Do cmn b ot
To1278 _"3.‘7??3"' ST T
L 947 447 ER
$ 2,518,996 3.91% :

1

| |

2007, respectively. Deposns in excess of $100 thousand ($250 thousand beginning October 3, 2008 until

December 31, 2009, following the passage of the EESA) and IRA accounts in excess of $250 thousand may not
'} - .. beinsured.by the FDIC.-The aggregate amount.of. deposﬂ accounts in.excess of.$100.thousand was. $996.7 °
. ~=~million-and-$991.6 million-as of September 30; 2008 and 2007, respectively- Certificates of depositwitha —

’ minimum denomination of $100 thousand were $686.3 million and $650.7 million as of September 30, 2008 and

2007, respectively. The aggregate amount of deposits that were reclassified as loans receivable was $296
thousand and $216 thousand as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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8. BORROWED FUNDS S T :

At September 30, 2008, the Company’s borrowed funds consisted of FHLB advances'and other borrowings.
Included in other borrowings are repurchase agreements and Junior Subordinated Deferrabie Interest
Debentures (the “Debentures” )

i

FHLB Advances - FHLB advances at the periods ended are comprised of the following:

1 "“."“"' : : 2008 2007 T - |
' ‘ ‘ (Dollars in thousands) '

. . . !
leed rate FHLB advances : ‘ $ 2,446,000 § 2,746,000 ) '
Deferred gain on terminated |nterest rate swaps ’ 1,128 oL - ' i
Fair value of interest rate swaps - R -- (13,817) '

1 | ) : - $ 2447129 § 2,732,183 . : IEEETE
P g - L . ; !
Weighted average interest rate on FHLB advances . 4.77% ' 4.80% |

1 H . ) )
| | . S |
As of September 30, 2007, the Bank had mterest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional amount of '
$800.0 mllhon -The Bank utilized the interest rate swaps to modify its interest rate risk profile. The Bank agreed

to recewe interest from counterparties at a fixed-rate matching the amounts paid by the Bank on the heclged !
FHLB advances and to pay interest at a variable rate indexed to the one month LIBOR rate plus a weighted !
average spread of 248 basis points during the term of the interest rate swaps and hedged FHLB advances. Net
interest settlement with the counterparties was completed monthly. Interest expense on FHLB advances 1
|ncreased $2.3 million, $13.6 million and $8.6 million as a result of the interest rate swaps for the years ended ‘
September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006. The aggregate fair value adjustment on the interest rate swaps \

represented a liability of $13.8 million as of September 30, 2007. As a result, the carrying amount of the: FHLB

advances as of September 30, 2007 was reduced by $13.8 million. . ; .
' |

1
During the first quarter of fiscal year 2008, management terminated interest rate “swap agreements with a

notlonal amount of $575.0 million that were scheduled to mature during fiscal year 2010. As a result of the
termination, the Bank received cash proceeds of $1.7 million and recorded a deferred gain for the procesds.-The —=—= =’
gain WI|| be amortized to interest expense on FHLB advances over the remaining life of the FHLB advances that i
were orlglnally hedged by the terminated interest rate swap agreements. The Bank had no interest rate swap | '
agreements outstanding at September 30, 2008 as the remammg interest rate swap agreement with a notional '
amountof $225.0 million matured in May 2008. : "
! : ' !
The FHLB advances are secured by certain gqualifying mortgage loans pursuant to a blanket collateral agreement
with the FHLB and all of the capital stock of FHLB owned by the Bank. Per the FHLB's lending guidelines, total
FHLB borrowmgs cannot exceed 40% of total Bank assets without the pre-approval of the FHLB president. At
—September 30, ‘2008, the-Bank’s ratlo of FHLB advances Eo total assets, as reported to the OTS, was 30% ;
At September 30, 2008, the Company had access to a line of crédit with the FHLB. in December 2008 the line of |
credit is, expected to be renewed automatically by the FH|IiB for a one year period. At September 30, 2008, there )
were no borrowings on the FHLB line of credit. Any borrowings on the line of credit would be included in total
FHLB borrowings in calculating the ratio of FHLB borrowmgs to total Bank assets, which generally could not '
exceed 40% of total Bank assets at September 30, 2008 i
[ I

. x ) .
| ! ' : : '
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Other Borrowings —The foliowing summarizes the components of other borrowings as of September 30, 2008
and 2007:

2008 2007
.. . : . L . _Average :,_ ) Average
e N - c—- - Amount - Rate - _Amount . - Rate..

' (Dollars in thousands) 7

Repurchase agreements $§ 660,000 397% S - -%

Debentures, net of capitalized debt issuance costs 53,581 5.54 53,524 B.12
$ 713,581 409%  $53,524 8.12%

Repurchase Agreements - During fiscal year 2008, the Bank entered into repurchase agreements totaling $660.0
million. Repurchase agreements are made at mutually agreed upon terms between counterparties and the
Bank. The use of repurchase agreements allows for the diversification of funding sources and the use of
securities that were not being leveraged as collateral. The Bank has pledged securities with a market value of |
$742.7 million at September 30, 2008 as collateral for the repurchase agreements. ' '

Debentures - The Company has established a Delaware statutory trust, Capitol Federal Financial Trust | {the
“Trust™}, of which the Company owns 100% of the common securities, or slightly more than 3% of the Trust
(“Trust Common Securities”). The Trust was formed for the purpose of issuing Company obligated mandatorily
redeemable preferred securities (“Trust Preferred Securities”). Outside investors own 100% of the Trust
Preferred Securities, or slightly less than 97% of the Trust. The Trust issued $53.6 million of Trust Preferred
‘Securities. The Company purchased $1.6 million of the Trust Common Securities which are reported in Other
Assets in the September 30, 2008 and 2007 consolidated balance sheet. When the Trust Preferred and Trust
Common Securities were issued, the Trust used the proceeds to purchase a like amount of Debentures of the
Company. The Debentures bear the same terms and interest rates as the Trust Preferred and Trust Common’
Securities. Interest is due quarterly in January, April, July and October until the maturity date of April 7,-2034.
The interest rate, which resets at each interest payment, is based upon the three month LIBOR rate plus 275
basis points. Principal is due at maturity. The Debentures are callable, in part or whole, beginning on April 7,
2009, at par. Any such redemption of the Debentures by the Company will cause a redemption of a like amount
of the Trust Preferred and Trust Common Securities by the Trust. The Company has guaranteed the obligations
of the Trust. The Trust is not included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company in accordance -
with FIN No. 46R, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB No. 51.” The Debentures
are the sole assets of the Trust. There are certain covenants of the Debentures that the Company is required to
comply with. These covenants include a prohibition on cash dividends in the event of default or if the Company
elects to defer the payment of interest on the Debentures, annual certifications to the Trust and other covenants
related to the payment of interest and principal and maintenance of the Trust. The Company was in compliance
with all covenants at September 30, 2008. -

Maturity of Borrowed Funds - At September 30, 2008 the FHLB advances, repurchase agreements and
Debentures mature as foilows

FHLB  Repurchase Total  Weighted

Advances Agreements Debentures Borrowings Average
Amount Amount Amount Amount Rates ‘ .
(Dollars in thousands)
, 2009 $ 620,000 $ - 8 - $§ 820,000 4.27%
Se-e -=— - .. .- 2010 . 925000. - 45000 - .- 970,000 - 5,52
2011 ° 276,000 ~ 200,000 ' T 476,000 4.42
2012 . 200,000 150,000 - 350,000 424
2013 425,000 - 145,000 T 570,000 3.85
Thereafter - 120,000 53,581 173,581 4.64
‘ $2446,000 $ 660,000 § 53,581 § 3,159,581 4.62%

Of the $620.0 million FHLB advances maturing in fiscal year 2009, $300.0 million is due in the second quarter of
fiscal year 2009 and $320 0 million is due in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009.




* Income tax expense consists of the following:
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INCOME TAXES

+
i

- 2008 2007 2006
(Doilars in thousands)

I R T e I —— o P e e edh N . e e e o e

——— - ———— e ——— -

Curent[ T ! $ 21,041 § 1896, § 2298
Deferreq g 8,160 18,714 28,288
: 1 $ 29201 § 20610 $ 30,586

t
l .
Income tax expense has been provnded at effective rates of 36.4%, 39.0% and 38.9% for the years ended -
September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The differences between such effective rates and the
statulory Federal income tax rate computed on income before income tax expense result from the following:

.

] 2008 2007 2006
| Amount % Amount % Amount %
(Dellars in thousands)

t

1
Eederal income tax expense

computed at statutory Federal rate - $ 28054 350% $ 18517 350% $ 27,546 35.0%
Increases in taxes resulting from: - ’ ‘

- State taxes, net of Federal tax effect 21422 26 . 1,719 33 2335 30

Other | (975) (1.2) 374 0.7 705 0.9

; : $ 20201 364% § 20,610 39.0% § 30,586 38.9%

f : )
Deferred income tax expense results from temporary differences in'the recognition of revenue and expenses for
tax and financial statement purposes. The sources of these differences and the tax effect of each were as
follows *

i

] 2008 - 2007 2006 =

(Dollars in thousands}

| ' .
! | ’
FHLB prepayment penalty $ 10586 § 21,225 § . 25261 '

FHLB stpck dlwdends (1,901) (440) 1,214
Other net (525) {2,071) 1,813 ‘
1 I $ 8,160 $ 18714 § 28,288 '
i T G S U]
| if |
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. The components of the net deferred income tax (liabilities) assets as of September 30, 2008 and 2007 are as’

t

follows: .
. 2008 2007‘ '

) N . L . (Doltars in thousands) .
... __Deferred incometaxassets. _ _. - _ ___ _-.__ . ... ... ._. o *
FHLB prepayment penalty ) $ 5884 % 16,470, ‘
. Unrealized loss on AFS securities 3,627 - .

. Salaries and employee benefi ts 1,567 1,048' ~
T ESOP compensation ' . 977 1,024 |
Other . 2,285 2,392 ;
‘ Gross deferred income tax assets ' 14,340 | 20,934! '
. Valuation allowance , - (241) {231) !
L Gross deferred income tax asset, net of valuation allowance 14,099 20,703, ' :
’ : i ' - i i
Lo - Deferred income tax labilities: ! }
: FHLB stock dividends ' A 14,496 16,397 }
: Other : 2826 3,763, !
Gross deferred income tax liabilities 17,322 20,160 :
v Net deferred tax (liabilities) assets $ (3223) % 543E "

i The Company assesses the available positive and negative evidence surrounding the recoverability of the
deferred tax assets and applies its judgment in estimating the amount of valuation allowance necessary under |
! the circumstances. As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company recorded a $241 thousand and $231
thousand, respectively, valuation allowance on net operating losses that management believes will not be ‘
~* deductible for the foreseeable future on the Company's consolidated Kansas corporate income tax return. :

The Company adopted FASB FIN No. 48 “Accounting for Uncertamty in Income Taxes, an iInterpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109” on October 1, 2007. The interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The
: interpretation prescribes a process by which the likelihood of a tax position is gauged based upon the technical-
‘. merits of the position, and then a subsequent measurement relates the maximum benefit and the degree of
! likelihood to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the financial statements. ?

. As of October 1, 2007 (the date of adoption), the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $3.8 million as a '

: result of tax positions taken during prior periods, $531 thousand.of which would affect the Company’s effective - -
income tax rate if recognized. Of the total $3.8 million increase in liability for unrecognized tax positions, $339 ' C
thousand was accounted for as a decrease to the October 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings, and the 1
remalmng $3.5 million was$ accounted for as an mcrease to net deferred tax assets. , ’
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as foliows (dollars’in

thousands): [ | '

' Balance at October 1, 2007 ' o $. 3773

‘ Additions for tax positions of prior years " o 130!

~~-  ——-Reductions for tax-positions.of prior years ——— — - -+ el - - v ea o s oo 0 (915)
..~ -—~Lapseof statute of limitations— - — —n et e T - T {"579) ‘
Balance at September 30, 2008 ) L $ 2,409 ‘

Included in the $2.4 million of unrecognized tax benefits at September 30, 2008 were accrued penalties and
interest of $609 thousand. Estimated penalties and interest for the year ended September 30, 2008 was $81
thousand which are included in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of income. Interest income
related to state and federal tax return refunds for the year ended September 30, 2008 was $235 thousand which
is included in other income in the consolidated statemients of income. We do not expect a material change in
unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months.

I
The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and the state of Kansas, as well as other 1
states where it has nexus. In many cases, uncertain tax positions are related to tax years that remain subject to
examination by the retevant taxing authorities. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S.
federal and state examinations by tax authorities for fiscal years before 2005,

'




10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a prbﬁt sharing plan and a Stock Ownership Plan ("ESOP"). The plans cover all employees
with a minimum of one year of service, at least age 21, and at least 1,000 hours of employment each year, ~

Profit Sharing Pilan — The profit sharing plan provides for two types of discretionary contributions. The first type
is an optional Bank contribution, determined by the board of directors, between 0.0% and 5.0% of an eligible

employee’s base compensation during the fiscal year. The second contribution may be between 0.5% and 10.0%,_ _

of an eligible employee's base compensation during the fiscal year if the employee matches 50. 0% {on an after-
tax basis) of the Bank’s second contribution. The profit sharing plan qualifies as a thrift and profit sharing plan
for purposes of Internal Revenue Codes 401(a), 402, 412, and 417. Total profit sharing contributions amounted
to $92 thousand, $80 thousand and $153 thousand for the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2008,
respectively.

ESOP - The ESOP Trust acquired 3,024, 574 shares of common stock in the Company's initial public offering
with proceeds from a loan from the Company. The Bank makes cash contributions to the ESOP on an dnnual
basis sufficient to enable the ESOP to make the required loan payments to the Company..

The loan referenced above bears interest at a fixed-rate of 5.80% with interest payable annually and future
principal and interest payable in five remaining fixed installments, as of September 30, 2008, of $3.0 million.
Payments of $3.0 million consisting of principal of $2.1 million, $2.0 million and $1.9 million and interest of $300
thousand, $1.0 million and $1.1 million were made on September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. The
loan is secured by the shares of Company stock purchased.

As the debt is repaid, 201,638 shares are released from collateral annually at September 30 and allocated to
qualified employees based on the proportion of their qualifying compensation to total qualifying compensation.
As ESOP shares are committed to be released from collateral, the Company records compensation expense.
Compensation expense related to the ESOP was $7.5 million for each of the years ended September 30, 2008,
2007, and 2008. Dividends on unallocated ESOP shares are recorded as a reduction of debt, up to a total of $3.0
million.

During the year ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Bank paid $571 thousand and $41 thousand,
respectively, of the ESOP debt payment because dividends on unallocated shares were insufficient to pay the
scheduled debt payment as they had been in previous years. Dividends paid to participants on allocated ESOP
shares were $2.9 million for the years ended September 30, 2008 and 2007.

Participants have the option to receive the dividends in cash or leave the dividend in the ESOP. Dividends are
reinvested in Company stock for those participants who choose to leave their dividends in the ESOP or who do
not make an election. The purchase of Company stock for reinvestment of dividends is made in the open market
on or about the date of the cash disbursement to the participants who opt to take dividends in cash.

Shares may be withdrawn from the ESOP Trust due to retirement, termination or death of the participant.
Following is a summary of shares held in the ESOP Trust as of September 30, 2008 and 2007:

' _ 2008 2007
oL . __ " ({(Dollars in thousands, except share amaounts)

. . - - B i

AI!ocateéi ESOP shares ‘ . 1,604,939 1.529,881

Unreleased ESOP shares ' 1,008,194 1,209,832
Total ESOP shares ' " 2,613,133 2,739,713

Fair value of unreleased ESOP shares - o $ 44693 $ 41,376

'
1




11. STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

At September 30, 2008, the Company had an Option Plan and an RRP. SFAS No, 123(R) “Share-Based
Payment” requires companies to recognize all share-based payments, which include stock options and restricted
. stack, in compensation expense over the service period of the share-based payment award. SFAS No. 123(R)

- establishes fair_value as the measurement objective.in accounting for share-based payment arrangements and
requires all entities to apply a fair-value-based measurement method in accounting for share-based payment -
transactions with employees, except for equity instruments held by empfoyee share ownership plans. The
Company adepted SFAS No. 123(R} on October 1, 2005 using the modified prospective method in which
compensation cost is recognized over the service period for all awards granted subsequent to the Company's
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) as well as for the unvested portion of awards outstanding as of the Companys
adoption of SFAS No. . 123(R).

Stock Option Plan - Pursuant to the Option Plan, 3,780,718 shares of common stock were reserved for
issuance by the Company upon exercise of stock options granted to officers, directors and employees of the
Company and the Bank from time to time under the Option Pian. The Company may issue both incentive and
nonqualified stock options under the Option Plan. The incentive stock options expire in ten years and the
nonqualified stock options expire fifteen years from the date of grant. The date on which the options are first
exercisable is determined by the Stock Benefits Committee (“sub-committee™), a sub-committee of the : |
Compensation Committee (“committee”) of the board of directors. The vesting period of the options generally '
ranges from three to five years. The option price is equal to the market value at the date of the grant as defined
by the Option Plan. The purpose of the Option Plan is to provide additional incentive to certain officers, directors
and key employees by facilitating their purchase of a stock interest in the Company. At September 30, 2008, the
Company had 301,285 shares available for future grants under the Option Plan. The Option Plan expires in
2010. No additional grants may be made after expiration, but outstandmg grants continue until they are
individually exercised, forfeited, or expire. '

The Option Plan is administered by the sub-committee, which selects the employees and non-employee
directors to whom options are to be granted and the number of shares to be granted. The exercise price may be
paid in cash, shares of the common stock, or a combination of both. The option price may not be less than
100% of the fair market value of the shares on the date of the grant. In the case of any employee who is granled
an incentive stock option who owns more than 10% of the outstanding common stock at the time the option is
granted, the option price may not be less than 110% of the fair market value of the shares on the date of the

- grant, and the option shall not be exercisable after the expiration of five years from the grant date. Historically,
the Company has issued shares held in treasury upon the exercise of stock options.

*

The fair value of stock option grants is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes aption pricing
model. The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 was $3.20, $5.61 and $3.98 per share, respectively. Compensation
expense attributable to stock options awards during the year ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 totaled
$323 thousand ($205 thousand, net of tax), $294 thousand ($179 thousand, net of tax), and $375 thousand
{$229 thousand, net of tax), respectively. The followmg welghted average asmmptnons were used for valumg
stock option grants for the periods noted: o

g o 2008 2007 2006 ;
Risk-free interest rate ! 3.2% 4.8% 4.5% ‘
Expected life (years) 5 6 8 A
Expected volatility : 22% 21% 22%
Dividend yield . 6.2% 5.2% 6.1% :

Estimated forfeitures . ‘ - 3.0% 6.2% 0% ,

'

n
i

- — " The nsk—free interest rate-was-determined- usmg the yleld available on the optlon grant “date for.a- zero-coupon-
U.8. Treasury security with a term equivalent to the expected life of the option. Per SAB No. 110, the expected
life for options granted during the year ended September 30, 2008 was based upon historical experience. The
expected life for options granted during years ended 2007 and 2006 represents the period the option is expected
to be outstanding and was determined by applying the simplified method as allowed by SAB No.107. The
expected volatility was determined using historical volatilities based on historical stock prices. The dividend yield
was determined based upon historical quarterly dividends and the Company's stock price on the option grant
date. Estimated forfeitures were determined based upon voluntary termination behavior and actual option
forfeitures.




A summary of option actlwty for the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 follows:

12008 2007 2006
" Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average o Average
Number Exercise Number  Exercise Number  Exercise
- of Optlons Price- -~ - ofOptions Price: - --of Options ~Pricg- >~ - -0 e
Options outsianding ' \ Lo
at beginning of year 382,855 § 28.13 668,457 $ 20.43 789,749 $ 15.61
Granted - 56,500 3219 34,000 38.77 . 112,000 - 32.69
Forfeited (100} 2566 (8,967) 29.37 (5,200) 22 57
Exercised | (35.933) 17.34 (310,635) "12.69 (231,092) 9.87
" Options outstanding : o ) o
at end of y;ear‘ 403,322 § 29.66 28.13 668,457 § 2043

382,855 $

Shares issued upon the exercise of stock options are issued from treasury stock. The Company has an adequate
number of treasury shares available for sale for future stock option exercises. During the years ended September
30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the total pretax intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $755 thousand, $8.1
million and $5.3 million, respectively and the tax benefits realized from the exercise of stock options were $114
thousand, $2.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively. The fair value of stock options vested during the year ended
September 30 2008 was $281 thousand.

The followmg summarizes information about the stock options outstanding and exercisable as of September 30,

2008: '
! ' _Options Outstanding
) Weighted Weighted
i . Average Average
. Number Remaining  Exercise Aggregate
Exercise of Options Contractual ‘Price per Intrinsic
. Price: Outstanding _ Life (in years} Share ‘Value - S
] {Dollars in thousands, except per share émounts) \ i ]
' $9.22' . 64,431 © 500 % 9.22 $ 2262 . ;
14.03 - 19.68 6,091 259 17.52 . 163 .
25.66—-28.78 3,500 3.93 27.00 61 '
3019 - 38'.77 329,300 9.78 33.91 3,431 .
! - 403,322 B85 § 2966 - % 5917
- L - - e e m o e - '
. : "~ Options Exercisa'ble
. ! Weighted Weighted
' - ‘ Average Average
‘ Number . Remaining Exercise Aggregate
' 'Exercisfe _of Options Contractuat P'rn::e per Intrinsic
" Price Exercisable Life {in years} Share Value
; {Dollars in lhousands except pe'r share amounts)
$9.22— -~ T 8443 ——500-—§— 922§ ~—2262~ —- - —-— ——— ————F
14.03 - 19.68 - 6,091 259 17582 163
2566 -28.78 : 3,500 3.93 ‘i 27.00° . 61
30.19-38.77 193,800 . 961 3403 1,997
267,822° 8.27 $ 4483

$ 2759

ll
The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value, based on the
Company’s closing stock price of $44.33 as of September 30, 2008 which would have been received by the option
holders had all option holders exercised their options as of that date. The total number of in-the-money options
exercisable as of September 30, 2008 was 267,822, It

l

— g.‘
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| .. .
As of September 30, 2008, the total future compensation cost related to non-vested stock options not yet

~ recognized in the consolidated statements of income was $374 thousand and the weighted average period over

L e =

which these awards are expected to be recognized was 2.1 years.

Recognition and Retention Plan — The objective of the RRP is to enable the Company and the Bank to retain
personnel. of experience.and ability in key positions.of-responsibility. -Employees and directors.of the Bank are ,

- eligible to receive benefits-under the RRP at the sole discretion of-the-sub-committee- The-total number of shares

originally eligible to be granted under the RRP was 1,512,287, At September 30, 2008, the Company had
165,987 shares available for future grants under the RRP. The RRP expires in 2010. No additional grants may
be made after expiration, but outstanding grants continue until they are mdwtdually exercised, forfeited,lor explre

Compensation expense in the amount of the fair market value of the common stock at the date of the grant, as'
defined by the RRP, to the employee is recognized over the period during which the shares vest. Compensation
expense attributable to RRP awards during the year ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 totaled $399
thousand ($253 thousand, net of tax), $375 thousand {$229 thousand, net of tax), and $451 thousand (3275
thousand, net of tax), respectively. A recipient of such restricted stock will be entitled to all voting and other !
stockholder rights (including the right to receive dividends on vested and non-vested shares), except that the ]
shares, while restricted, may not be sold, pledged or otherwise disposed of and are required to be held in escrow
by the Company.- If a holder of such restricted stock terminates employment for reasons other than death or
disability, the employee forfeits all rights to the non-vested shares under restriction. If the participant’s service
terminates as a result of death, disability, or if a change in control of the Bank occurs, all restrictions expire and
all non-vested shares become unrestncted A summary of RRP share activity for the years September 30, 2008,
2007, and 2006 follows:

2008 2007 - 2006 - !
- . Weighted Weighted Weighted |
Number Average  Number Average Number Average |
of Grant Date of . Grant Date of Grant Date,
Shares Fair Value __ Shares Fair Value _ Shares Fair Value .

Outstanding at beginning o
of period 24,300 $ 34.46 30,800 $ 3337 18,800 $ 33.88 !
Granted 10,000 32.26 5,000 38.77 22,500 3273
© Vested R ~ (11,100) 3412 (11,100) 33.35 (10,500) :?32.91 ‘
Forfeited - - (400) 35.42 - -
Qutstanding at end of period 23200 $ '33.68 24,300 $ 3446 30,800 $ 33.37 I

! '

The estimated forfeiture rate for the RRP shares granted during the year ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and
2006 was 0% based upon voluntary termination behavior and actual forfeitures. The fair value of RRP shares -
that vested during the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006 totaled $379 thousand, $370 thousand
and $346 thousand, respectively. As of September 30, 2008, there was $553 thousand of unrecognlzed '
compensation cost related to non-vested RRP shares to.ba recognizéd over a weighted aveérage penod of2.2 "
years. . .

. | t
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14.

PERFORMANCE BASED COMPENSATION

The Company and the Bank have a short-term performance plan for all officers and a deferred incentive bonus
plan for executive officers. The short-term performance plan has a component tied to Company performance
and a component tied to individual participant performance. Individual performance criteria are established by
executive management for eligible non-executive employees of the Bank; individual performances of executive
officers are reviewed by the committee. Company performance criteria are approved by the committee. .Short-

term performance-plan awards are-granted based-upon a performance review-by the-.committee. The-commitiee: - -

may exercise its discretion and reduce or not grant awards. The deferred incentive bonus plan is intended to
operate in conjunction with the short-term performance plan. A participant of the deferred incentive bonus plan
can elect lo defer into an account between $2 thousand and 50% of the short-term performance plan award up to
but not exceeding $100 thousand. The amount deferred receives a 50% employer match. The deferral period is
three years. Earnings on the amount deferred by the executive and the employer match are tied to the
performance of the Company’s common stock and cash dividends paid thereon during the deferral period. The
total amount of short-term performance plan awards provided for the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007,
and 2006, amounted to $2.1 million, $1.1 million and $1.1 million respectively, of which $165 thousand, $66 -
thousand and $125 thousand respectively, was deferred under the deferred incentive bonus plan. The deferrals
and earnings on those deferrals will be paid in 2010, 2011, and 2012. During fiscal years 2008, 2007, and 2006
the amount expensed in conjunction with the earnings on the deferred amounts was $332 thousand, $82
thousand and $110 thousand, respectively.

DEFERﬁED COMPENSATION

The Bank has deferred compensation agreements with certain officers and retired officers whereby stipulated
amounts will be paid to them over a period of 20 years upon their retirement or termination. Amounts accrued
under these agreements aggregate $363 thousand and $492 thousand as of September 30, 2008 and 2007,
respectively, and are accrued over the period of active employment and are funded by life insurance contracts.

COMMI'i'MENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Bank had commitments outstanding to originate and purchase first and second mortgage loans as of
September 30, 2008 and 2007 as follows:

2008 - - 2007 S
! (Dollars in thousands) |
Originate fixed-rate $ 105,419 $ 88,081
Criginate adjustable-rate - 16,302 23,737
Purchase fixed-rate ; 14,366 19,277
‘Purchase adjustabte-rate . 133,153 19,172

: . $ 269240 $ 150267

As df.Sepfér:rlbér 30; 2008 and'EOO?: there were ;10 siéniﬁcant loan-related commitments that met the definition
- of derivatives or commitments to sell mortgage loans.

As of Se'ptember 30, 2008, the Bank had commitments to ‘originate non-mortgage loans approximating $72
thousand all of which were fixed-rate. As of September 30, 2007, the Bank had commitments to originate non-
mortgage loans approximating $2.2 million of which approxlmately %158 thousand were fixed-rate and $2.1

million were variable rate commitments. '\ ,

Commltments to originate mortgage and non-mortgage loans are agreements to lend to a customer as long as
there is no violation of any condition established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration

dates or other termination-clauses and may require the payment of ‘a rate lock fee.Some of the commitments: are’ ~TT

expected to expire without being fully drawn upon; therefore the amount of total commitments disclosed above
does not necessarily represent future cash requirements.. The Bank evaluates each customer's creditworthiness
on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if considered necessary by the Bank, upon
extension of credit is based on management’s credit evaluation of the customer.

As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Bank had approved but unadvanced home equity lines of credit of
$269.0 million and $269.3 million, respectively. Approval of lines of credit is based upon underwriting standards
that do not allow total borrowings, including existing mortgages and lines of credit, to exceed 100% of the
estimated market value of the customer's home ;




- 15. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies.
Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory, and possibly additional
discretionary, actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a materia! effect on the Company'’s financial
statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and_the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action the
Bank must meet specific capital guidelings that involve quantitative measures of the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and
certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The Bank's capital amounts
and classifications are also subject to qualltatwe judgments by regulators about components, risk welghtmgs

and other factors, .

Quantitative measures that have been established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require the Bank to
maintain minimum capital amounts and ratios {set forth in the table below). The Bank's primary regulatory
agency, the OTS, requires that the Bank maintain minimum ratios of tangible capital (as defined in the
requlations) of 1.5%, core capital (as defined) of 4%, and total risk-based capital (as defined) of 8%. The Bank
also is subject to prompt corrective action capital requirement regulations set forth by the FDIC. The FDIC
requires the Bank to maintain a minimum of Tier 1 total and core capital {as defined) to risk-weighted assets (as
defined), and of core capital (as defined) to adjusted tangible assets {as defined). Management believes, as of
September 30, 2008, that the Bank meets all capital adequacy requirements to which itis subjecl.

As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, the most recent guidelines from the OTS categorized the Bank as "well
capitalized” under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action. To be categorized as “well capitalized,”
the Bank must maintain minimum tota! risk-based, Tier 1 risk-based, and Tier 1 leverage ratios as set forth in the
following table. There are no conditions or events subsequent to September 30, 2008 that management believes
changed the Bank's category.

To Be Well
Capitalized
Under Prompt
For Capital Corrective Action
Actual Adequacy Purposes Provisions
Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio’
(Dollars in thousands)

As of September 30, 2008: '
Total capital {to risk weighted assets) $ 801,886 "23.0% § 279,143 8.0% $ 348,929 10.0%
Core capital (o adjusted tangible assets} 806,708 10.0 323,192 4.0 403,990 5.0
Tangible capital {to tangible assets} 806,708 10.0 121,197 1.5 N/A NIA
Tier | capital (to risk weighted assets) 806,708 . 23.1 N/A NIA 209,357 6.0

As of September 30, 2007: R
Total capital {to risk weighted assets) $ 784725 22.8% § 275296 80% $ 344,120 10.0%
Core capital (to adjusted tangible assels) 788,621 10.3 307,799 4.0 384,749 5.0
Tangible capital (to tangible assets) 788,621 . 103 115,425 1.5 NIA - NIA
Tier | capital (to risk weighted assets) 788,621 229 N/A "NIA 206,472 6 0

A reconciliation of the Bank 5 equity under GAAP to regulatory capital amounts as of September 30, 2008 and
2007 is as follows: ' ;

i

2008 2007 '
{Dollars in thousands)

Total equity as reported under GAAP . $803,643 § 793,661
Unrealized losses (gains} on AFS securities . 5,968 (1,287) )
Other ' (2,903) {3,753) . .

. Total tangible and core capital o . 806708 788,621 o
. . Allowance for loan losses ... ... 5008 . _ 4,164 - .

Equity invesiments in low income housmg tax credlts {9,830) (8,060)

Total risk based capital . $801,886 § 784,725

Under OTS regulatlons there are limitations on the amount of capital the Bank may distribute to the Company
Generally, this is limited to the earnings of the previous two calendar years and current year-to-date earnings.
Currently, the Bank operates under an OTS-granted waiver to these regulations because of capital distributions
from the Bank to the Company during the current waiver period, which is expected to expire on December 31,
2008. Cutrently, the Bank has authorization from the OTS to distribute capital from the Bank to the Company
through the quarter ending June 30, 2009. So long as the Bank continues to maintain excess capital, operate in
a safe and sound manner, and comply with the interest rate risk management guidelines of the OTS, itis
management's belief that the Bank will continue to receive waivers, as necessary, allowing it to distribute the net
income of the Bank to the Company, although no assurance can be given in this regard.




16. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUNiENTS

The Company deten‘nmed estimated fair value amounts using available market information and a selection from
a variety of valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required to interpret market data to
develop the-estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented are not necessarily indicative of the
amount the Company could realize in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions and

estimation methodologies may.have.a material-effect on.the estimated fair value. arnounts C e

The estlmated fair values of the Company s financial instruments as of Sep September 30 2008 and 2007 are as

foltows :

S 2008 2007

i Estimated Estimated

: ' Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
' : Amount Value Amount _ Value

' {Dollars in thousands)
Assets: | ’ , : o

Cash and cash equwalents $ 87,138 % 87,138 $ 162,791 $ 162,791

' Investment securities: .

! Available-for-sale 49,586 49586 102424 102,424

‘.' Held- to—matunty 92,773 92,211 421,744 418,940
*Mortgage -related securities: : : o

{ Avallable-for-sa!e 1,484,055 1,484,055 402,686 402,686

« Held- to—matunty 750,284 743,764 1,011,585 995,415

' Loans receivable held-for-safe 997 997 2,184 2,184
| Loans recelvabie : 5,320,780 5,301,179 5,250,071 5,189,611
!Capltal stock of FHLB 124,40:6 124,406 139,661 139,661

Liabilities; ,

" ' Deposits 3,923,883 3,934,188 3,922,782 3,925,810

Advances from FHLB 2,447,129 2,485,545 2,732,183 2,751,641

| Other Borrowings . 713,581 716,951

53,524

54,451

The follcilwing methads and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of the financial instruments:

Cash and Cash Equivalents - The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are reasonable estimates of .

tlheir fair vatue,

|
Investmenf and Mortgage-Related Securities - Estimated fair values of investment and morlgage -related
securlties are based on one of three methods: 1) quoted market prices where available, 2) quoted market prices
for similar instruments if quoted market prices are not available, 3) unobservable data that represents the Bank’s
-assumptions about items that-market participants would- consider in determining fair value where no market data

||s available.

‘ E

Loans Receivab!e Held-for-Sale - Estimated fair values of ioans receivable held for saie are determined based
on saies commitments or dealer quotations.

i

Loans Rece.'vable Fair values are estimated for portfoiios with similar financial characteristics. Loans are
segregated by type, such as one- to four-family residential mortgages, multi-family residential mortgages,
nonreS|dent|aI and installment loans. Each loan category is further segmented into fixed and adjustable interest
rate calegones Market pricing sources are used to approximate the estimated fair value of fixed and adjustable-
rate onet to four-family residential mortgages. For all other loan categories, future cash flows are discounted __
using the- current. yield curve-at-which-similar-loans-would be made to-borrowers-with- srmiiar credit. ratincs and d-for-—

the same remaining maturity.

Capital Stock of FHLB - The carrying value of capital stoFk of FHLB approxrmates its fair value.

Deposits - The estimated fair value of demand deposns and savings accounts is the amount payable on
demand at the reporting date. The estimated fair value of-f ixed-maturity certificates of deposit is estimated by
discounting the future cash flows using the rates currently offered by the Bank for certificates of similar remaining

maturities.

Advances from FHLB - The estimated fair value of advances from FHLB are determined by discounting the

future cash flows of each advance using the LIBOR curve,

— ——




Other Borrowings — The Debentures have a variable rate structure. The Company can prépay the Debentures -
_ at a premium until April 2009, at which point the borrowings can be pre-paid at par. The estimated fair value of
the repurchase agreements is determtned by discounting the future cash flows of each agreement using the
LIBOR curve.

.- == -- The-fair value estimales presented-herein are-based on-pertinent-information-available-to management-as-of .
: :-ﬁ - -“September 3072008 and-2007-Although-management-is-not-aware of -any-factors-that-would-significantly affect
' the estimated fair value amounts, such amounts have not been comprehensively revalued for purposes of these
' financial statements since that date. Therefore, current estimates of fair value may differ significantly from the|
amounts presented herein.

i

|

i

17. SELECTED QUARTERL-Y FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

_ The following table presents summarized quarterly data for each of the years indicated for the Company.

First Second Third Fourth T
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

' I
, {Dollars and counts in thousands, except per share amount's) ’ }

Average number of shares outstanding 72,627 70 72 8127 TT72947 73,011 ’;:.‘3:‘72 849°M U

O

2008

Total interest and dividend income $ 101,028 % 101,816 $ 102,785 $ 105,177 § 410 806 r
. Net interest and dividend income _ 26,627 31,002 36,681 39,858 134 168 |
; Provision for loan losses - 119 1,602 330 ! 2,051 l
X Net income ' 9,113 11,727 14,355 15,759 [50,954 ;
. ~ Basic earnings per share .- bz 0.16 0.20 0.22 i 0.70'-I
i Diluted earnings per share 012~ 0.16 0.20 0.22 } 0.70
, Dividends paid per public share : 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 2.00'

Average number of shares outstanding 72,956 72,875 72,933 72,990 72,939 i
‘ ' :
w07 ' ‘

: Total interest and dividend income . $ 105,166 $ 104,573 $ 101526 $ 100,285 § 411 550

Net interest and dividend income 27,827 23,697 ' 25,816 24,100 106 440 ’

‘ - (Recovery) Provision for loan losses {280) 55 - ' - (225},
K Net income , 10,251 8,456 7,289 6,300 32,296 |

| _Basic eamnings per share 0.14 0.12 0.10 0.08 . 044 *
1 Diluted earnings per share 0.14 0.12 0.10 0.08 044 1
': Dividends paid per public share . 0.59 . 0.50 0.50 " 050 + 2.09 f
| S
[

.
+
' "
t

|

|

! |
! j




18. PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (PARENT COMPANY ONLY)

The Company serves as the holding company for the Bank (see Note 1). The Company’s (parent company.onty)
balance sheets as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, and the related statements of income and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2008 are as follows:

BALANCE SHEETS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2008 and 2007 .- . . . -~ .

(in thousands, except share amounts} - -- - - C s e - - -

f 2008 2007

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents . $ 44508 § 53,662

Investment in the Bank 803,643 793,661

Investment in certificates of deposxt at the Bank 60,000 60,000

Note receivable - ESOP 12,667 14,799

Other assets » ‘ ' 4,621 1,639

Income tax receivable S 67 -
TOTAL ASSETS : $ 925,506 $ 923,761

UABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

LIABILITIES:

Income tax payable $ - 3 228

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 709 2,378

Other borrowings ' 53,581 53,524
Total liabilities - . 54,290 56,130

STOCKHCLDERS' EQUITY: '

Preferred stock, $.01 par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized,

no shares issued or outstanding ’ .- -
Common stock, $.01 par value; 450,000,000 shares authorized,

91,512,287 shares issued; 74,079,868 and 74,258,977 shares ) ,
.outstanding as of September 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively 915 915
Additional paid-in capital 445,391 438,964
Unearned compensation - ESOP: . (10,082) (12,098) ~ -
Unearned compensation - RRP (553) T (630)
Retained earnings ' ) : 759,375 750,186
Accumulated other comprehensive {loss) gain (5,968) 1,287

1,189,078 1,178,624
Treasury stock 17,432,419 and 17,253,310 shares as of -
September 30, 2008 and 2007, at cost (317.862) (310,893)

Totai 'stockholders' equuty ’~ ‘ o - 871,216 ~ B67,631 ' Tt

TOTAL LIABILITtES AND STOCKHOLDERS EOUITY _ $ 925506 & 923,761




" INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME:

STATEMENTS OF INCOME
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006
(in thousands)

bividend income from the Bank
Interest income from other investments
Total interest and dividend income

INTEREST EXPENSE
NET INTEREST AND DIVIDEND INCOME
OTHER INCOME
OTHER EXPENSES:
Salaries and employee benefits

Other, net
Total other expenses

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX (BENEFIT) EXPENSE AND EQUITY
IN UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS OF SUBSIDIARY (EXCESS OF
DISTRIBUTION OVER)

INCOME TAX (BENEFIT) EXPENSE

INCOME BEFORE EQUITY IN UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS OF
SUBSIDIARY (EXCESS.OF DISTRIBUTION OVER)

EQUITY IN UNDISTRIBUTED EARNINGS OF SUBSIDIARY
- -(EXCESS OF DISTRIBUTION OVER)

NET INCOME

2008 2007 2006
]

‘5 41,511 35956 § 38,414
4,683 5,751 5,174
46,194 41,707 23,588
3,624 4.468 4,160
42,570 37.239 39,428
107 132 123
975 945 060
380 438 512
1,355 1,383 1472
41,322 35,988 38,079
(66) 11 (123)
41,388 35,977 38,202
9,566 (3681) : 9915

3 50,954

32,296 § 48,117




STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS '
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008 2007, and 2006
(in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES"
Net.income. .- .
Ad;ustments to. reconcale net.income.{o.net.cash. prowded by-—- - -

operatlng activities:
Equtty in excess of distribution over/(undistributed)

earnings of subsidiary ‘ .
Amortlzatlon of deferred debt issuance costs
Other, net.
Changes in:

Other assets

Income taxes receivable/payable

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

! ' Net cash flows provided by operating activities

- C e e e — -

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Pnnapa! collected on notes receivable from ESOP
| . Net cash flows provided by mvestlng activities

CAS!H FLOV\'IS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: :
Payment from subsidiary for sale of treasury stock related to
RRP shares
Dwidends paid
Acquqsmon of treasury stock
Stock options exercised
; Net cash flows used in financing activities
i
NETiDECREiASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
; - .
CASIH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Bedinning of year

End of year

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:

Interest payments

P,

i
1

1
:
t
!

— e M e

et —— e maa e

$ 3915

2008, 2007 2006

$....50954 _$..32,296, 's. A8 M
'* T o ¥
_ J [
9.566) . 3681 9.915) g
57 "} . 57 57 !
3 {5) (1) o
(2,982) 33 (18) ¥
(295) - 351 - 41 - g,
(1,669) 1,321 (3.278) %
36,502 37,734 34,999 £
2,132 2,016 1,905 I
2,132 2,016 1,905 §
Il .
322 180 749 ¥
. (41,426) (43,000) . (46.870) !
(7.307) (3,198) (16,681) »
623 3,942 2,279 ;
(47.788) (42,676) (60,523) :
(9,354) (2,326) (23,619) .
_ '

53662  55988° " 79607 T T
$ 44508 § 53662 $ 55988 g
' - 3
$ 3929 $ 4511 X




51 OCKHOLDER INFORMATION

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held at 10:00 a.m. local time on January 14, 2009, at the Bradbury Thompson
Center, 1700 SW Jewell on the Washburn University campus in Topeka, Kansas.

Stock Listing

Capitol Federal Financial common stock is traded on the Global Select tier of the NASDAQ Stock Market under the symbol
“CFFN",

Price Range of Common Stock

The high and low sales prices for the common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Stock Market, as well as dividends
declared per share, are reflected in the table below. Such information reflects inter-dealer prices, without retail markup,
| markdown or commission and may not represent actual transactions.

| FISCAL YEAR 2007 HIGH LOW DIVIDENDS

i | First Quarter $38.97 $35.34 $0.59
| Second Quarter $40.42 $36.36 $0.50

| : Third Quarter $39.78 $36.72 $0.50 \
| Fourth Quarter $37.40 $29.25 $0.50 1
L RISCAL YEAR 2008 HIGH LOW DIVIDENDS !
! First Quarter $36.09 $30.47 $0.50 |
' Second Quarter $38.60 $27.63 $0.50
! Third Quarter $41.45 $36.82 $0.50 -
| Fourth Quarter $51.56 $36.06 $0.50 |

1 The combination of regular quarterly dividends and the special year end dividend to be paid in December 2008 will result
in total cash dividends of $2.11 per share paid to public stockholders in calendar year 2008. Total cash dividends paid to
i public stockholders during calendar year 2007 were $2.00 per share. |

| Ourcash dividend payout policy is continually reviewed by management and the board of directors, Dividend paymeints

. depend upon a number of factors including the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, regulatory capital

" requirements of the Bank, other regulatory limitations on the Bank’s ability to make capital distributions to the Company
and the continued waiver of dividends by Capitol Federal Savings Bank MHC. The Company relies significantly upon

I dividends originating from the Bank to accumulate cash for the payment of dividends to Company stockholders, See | |
Notes 1 and 15 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of restrictions on the Bank’s ability to pay

| | dividends. -

[ At November 14, 2008, there were 74,082,168 shares of Capitol Federal Financial common stock issued and outstandmg
and approximately 9,795 stockholders of record.

I . v , .

Stockholders and Ge._neral Ian|r|es

James 113 ngpe,vgcei’msid%m
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American Stock Transfer & Trust Company

59 Maiden Lane, New York, NY 10038
{800) 937-5449
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